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SPECIAL NOTE ON FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

Certain statements set forth in or incorporatedéference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K cdogti “forward-looking statementsivithin the meaning of Secti
27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 2flithe Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These saatsminclude, without limitation, our expectatiaegarding the
adequacy of anticipated sources of cash, planngitaleexpenditures, the effect of interest rataéases, and trends or expectations regarding o@ragons. Words sut
as “may,” “will,” “should,” “believes,” “anticipate s,” “expects,” “intends,” "plans,” “estimates” and similar expressions are intended to identify fordrmoking
statements, but are not the exclusive means oftifigiag such statements. Such statements are basedurrently available operating, financial and cpetitive
information and are subject to various risks andentainties. Readers are cautioned that the forwlaaking statements reflect managemsmtstimates only as of the c
hereof, and we assume no obligation to update teegements, even if new information becomes &lailar other events occur in the future. Actualifatresults, ever
and trends may differ materially from those expeesis or implied by such statements depending wari@ty of factors, including, but not limited toose set forth und
“Item 1A Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Ann&aport on Form 10-K.

PART I
ITEM1. BUSINESS

Neonode Inc., “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company’hrovide optical infrared touchscreen solutions iandheld and small to midsized consumer and inai
electronic devices. We license our touchscreemtaolgy to Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMsid Original Design Manufacturers (“ODMskho imbed ot
touchscreen technology into electronic devices tiivy develop and sell. The cornerstone of ourtgwlus our innovative optical infrared touchscreéeohnology zForc
® , which can be applied on any flat surface such gsitli Crystal Displays (LCD), Electronic Paper Dy (EPD) or as a Mouse Pad, and can be incorloirti al
types of devices, enabling touch detection for gype of object (finger, pen, glove or brush). Irdigidn the zForce touch solution has a low totalghieand buildini
height, thus enabling greater industrial desigmilfiéity. Since nothing is layered on top of thsmlay, the zForce solution provides 100% opticahsparency, whic
improves image quality, reduces glare, and imprdattery life.

We have recently developed our Muliensing technology to help OEMs and device manufexs differentiate themselves in a competitivekaarReady to k
implemented into a wide range of commercial devisash as smart phones, tablets and automotiveagispbur MultiSensing technology can be used for, but i
limited to, intuitive gaming, industrial design,caBD modeling. This cuttingdge technology identifies any object and determitesize, pressure, depth, speed an
proximity of an object to a surface. It uses liglith zero latency that can sense and determinectsbje a pen, brush, bare/gloved finger or laggects like a hand,
very high speed. The zForce multi-touch produasell on our MultBensing technology, is our latest release andrigmtly being integrated into products such as e
phones, e-Readers, household appliances, printdrsffice equipment, GPS devices, automobile c@ss@ames and toys and tablet PC’s.

Our technology licensing model allows us to focuastlee development of solutions for muibuch enabled screens, and thus we do not haventerad with th
financial and logistical burden of manufacturingqucts, which is handled by our ODM/OEM clients. i¢ense the right to use zForce and software whagether wit
standard components from partners, create a coenpfeical touch solution. Our licensing model pd®s the added benefit of allowing us to grow seliéisout the nee
of increasing costs at anywhere near the sameaatgport the sales growth.

Our website is www.neonode.conThrough our website, we make available free afrgh all of our Securities and Exchange Commis§i8&C”), filings,
including our annual reports on Form 10-K, our gretatements, our quarterly reports on Form 10#@,@ur current reports on FormkBas well as Form 3, Form 4, ¢
Form 5 Reports for our directors, officers, andhpipal stockholders, together with amendments ésehreports filed or furnished pursuant to Sectit®(®), 15(d), or 1
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as astrat the Exchange Act. These reports are availaihediately after their electronic filing withefSEC. Our websi
also includes corporate governance informationpging our Code of Conduct, our Code of Ethicstfer CEO and Senior Financial Officers, and our Bdaommitte:
Charters.




On March 25, 2011, we filed a Certificate of Ameredrh of our Amended and Restated Certificate of fpomtion affecting a reverse stock split of
Company’s issued and outstanding shares of comrumk @nd preferred stock at a ratio of twenty-figeane (the “Reverse Split")The Certificate of Amendme
provided that each twenty-five (25) outstandingrehaf the Corporatios’common stock, par value $0.001 per share, wdaseged and combined, automatically, witt
further action, into one (1) share of common staukd each twenty-five (25) outstanding shares ef Gorporatiors preferred stock, par value $0.001 per share
exchanged and combined, automatically, withouthfenrtaction, into one (1) share of preferred stddle Reverse Split was declared effective on Mag&h2P11 and h:
been reflected in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our History
Neonode Inc, formerly known as SBE, Inc., was ipooated in the State of Delaware on September9.19

On August 10, 2007, SBE, Inc. consummated a revaesger transaction with Neonode Inc. (the “Meryjeshd SBE, Incs name was subsequently change
“Neonode Inc.”upon the completion of the Merger. Prior to the d#r Neonode Inc. had been incorporated in thee SteDelaware in 2006 and was the parel
Neonode AB, a company founded in February 2004imeatporated in Sweden. Following the closing @& Merger, the business and operations of Neonadeptior tc
the Merger became the primary business and opesatibthe newly-combined company. The newly-comthioempany’s headquarters is located in Stockholmed&n.

Through our previously whollpwned subsidiary, Neonode AB, we developed ourttsaeen technology and an optical touchscreen mahibne product, tl
N2. We began shipping the N2 to our first cust@merJuly 2007 but faced difficult circumstancedinding a viable market for our N2 mobile phonal@aubsequent
discontinued the manufacturing of mobile phonesthredperations of Neonode AB.

Technologies

Our touchscreen solutions are based on our patefi@de and Neno™ hardware and software technoldggrce is our optical infrared touchscreen teabay
that supports one-handed navigation, allowing #&r to operate the functionality with finger gessipassing over the screen. Neno is our softwaseebaser interface.

zForce has been patented in several countriesdimgjuhe U.S. and has several patgrgading in the U.S. It uses infrared light thapiisjected over the scre
Infrared light pulses are sent out up to 1,000 sirper second to capture a frame and detect toutfaten. Up to 1000 coordinates are produced bggusathematici
algorithms to calculate the exact position of actoobject when a user's fingers move across threesciThis input method is unique to Neonode arehabled by tr
zForce technology.

Currently, there are two dominant types of touaksnrtechnologies available in the markeapacitive and resistive. Capacitive technologféstechnology th
the Apple iPhone uses and resistive technologyhiatus found on most stylusased PDAs. Resistive technology is pressuretsengéchnology. Best used for deta
work and for selection of a particular spot on &en, resistive technology is not useful for swegpjestures or motion, such as zooming in and Gapacitiv:
technology, which can be found on a laptop compmteuse pad, is very good for sweeping gesturesnaotibn. The screen actually reacts to the fingéirly electri
impulses. Capacitive touchscreens work best itiger has unimpeded contact between his fingertenddreen.




Our zForce optical touchscreen technology has ebeummf key advantages over each of these techrespgicluding:

« No additional layers are added to the screenntast dilute the screen contrast and clarity. Laygetechnology is required to activate the capaeitind resistiv
technologies and can be very costly;

« The zForce grid technology is more responsive tha capacitive screen technology and, as a résujtiicker and less prone to misreads. It allavevemen
and sweeping motions as compared to point-sensgitykis-based resistive screens;

« zForce, an abbreviation for zero force necessdnyiates the need to use any force to select @eritems on the screen as would be the case vsityizs;

« zForce is cosefficient due to the lower cost of materials anceatremely simple manufacturing process when coetpto the expensive layered capacitive
resistive screens;

« zForce allows multiple methods of input, suchsiasple finger taps to hit keys, sweeps to zoomriowt, and gestures to write text or symbols diyeoh the
screen;

« zForce is one of the few viable touchscreen smistthat will operate as well on the new revolnény reflective display panels that will offer pafli@e reading
experience in almost any ambient lighting conditidnile greatly reducing power consumption. Manufiaets of reflective display panels are targetirigeader
mobile phone and tablet PC markets because thegzedeequire the clear viewing screen and low pawasumption of the reflective display panels; and

« zForce incorporates some of the best functidealiof both the capacitive and resistive touchscrieehnologies. It works in all climates and, uelithe
competing technologies, can be used with thick ggon addition, zForce allows for waterproofingloé device

Because of its uniqueness and flexibility, we baiéhat our zForce technology presents a very fggnit licensing opportunity for Neonode. The marisevast
given the current rapid increase in touchscreeedatevices such asReaders, automotive, mobile phones, Tablet PCsjar@dyers, printers and GPS naviga
devices.

Neonode NN1001 Single Chip Touch Controller
The NN1001 is the next generation touch technolsgiytion that we have developed in collaboratiothviiexas Instruments. It is designed to simplifg
integration to reduce bill of material (BOM) coag well as increase the performance where intefyrdtealso adds superior functionality, such adtirtouch and gestur
for any object, and delivers a greater user expegi@n every level. The Single Chip Touch Contralletperforms capacitive touch solutions at a foarcof the cost.
« The NN1001 has a scanning speed of 1000 Hz (latéoey to 1ms) and consumes less than 1mW at 100Hz.
« The NN1001 tracks any high-speed multi-touch gesiith any object (finger, gloved finger and pasgpens) with high accuracy.

« The NN1001 connects to any microcontroller or aggtlon processor with a high speed SPI interfabe. dontroller works in single or multiple configticas
supporting screen sizes up to 20 ir

« The NN1001 supports advanced power managementapldments the Neonode AlwaysON™ technology wheeetdlich is active even when the device
sleep or off mode

Markets

We currently provide touchscreen solutions for gatibn for many of the world’s premierReader OEMs. We have aggressively expanded theeisafide ou
touch technology beyond e-Readers and have alsweehinto technology license agreements with sofritdeoworld’s leading OEMs operating in the mobile phi
automotive, office equipment (such as printers)SG&hd tablet markets. We are currently engag@daduct development activities with these customlaraddition, w:
are in technology development and contract negotistwith OEMs operating in the automotive, houseteppliance, games and toys, and electronic gamiugpmer
markets.




In general, high-performance capacitive touchs@emst a lot to manufacture, while Igerformance resistive touchscreens are cheaperake.rnfhanks f
extensive experience and expertise, Neonode hasdstilis production-cost problem by developing reec—the market's most innovative optical touch techgyltha
may be customized for the various markets in whiethave focused our marketing efforts.

zForce

« Operates on all screen types and provides a ciyisi@t viewing experience in any lighting conditi@ven bright sunlight
« Runs on Electronic Paper Displays that createadatde experience close to ink on paper becausBdtts light like ordinary paper
« Operates on LCD (Liquid Crystal Displays)
« Supports high-resolution pen writing in combinatigith finger navigation that includes, e.g., gesgymulti-touch, and sweeps
« Provides a 100% clear viewing experience—unlikditi@nal resistive and capacitive touchscreens
« Can be applied to any flat surface.
In addition, zForce enables:
« Touch detection for any object
« A smooth touch experience with no necessary pregsutouch detection
« Greater industrial design flexibility for equipmearid device manufacturers.
« Pressure sensing

« 3D scanning and proximity sensing

zForce includes features that benefit Neonode'toousrs by facilitating the creation of taprality products at lower production costs, whicllee faster time
market.

Tablets and e-Readers

As a result of these benefits and features, zFRertee world’s most-used optical touch technologlyd-Readers today with customers such as Amazon, B&
Noble, Sony and Kobo, all of whom have integratedzai-orce technology into thei-Readers.

In addition, we have customers currently developaidets.
Mobile Phone
Our innovative touch technology is suitable for nit®phones and virtually all other hand held desice
Automotive
Touch interface displays in vehicles must openata wide range of ambient lighting and temperataneditions. A resistive screen may be operated glibve:

on, but the membrane layer reduces transparencycamdause glare. The zForce solution is pklted to make inroads in the automotive marketesit provides
brighter, more readable display, with a full opergtemperature range, that can easily be usec&wghring gloves.




Printers and Office Equipme

Photo printers and combination printer/scannenffechines typically require featursh menus and settings, and OEMs have increasimgilaced mechanic
buttons with resistive touchscreen displays. zFoféers an improved user experience, with briglisplay, ultra light touch, and support for gestufguch as swipe
access menus and screens), all without increasisty ¢

Home Electronic:

Machines in the kitchen and laundry room are stifistly controlled by mechanical buttons, dials amembrane switches. New designs can use zForceor
without an underlying display. For example, touelmstive buttons can be achieved by placing thiet lguide around a prgrinted array. A touch panel can incl
illumination without a display. A feature-rich deg like a high-end dryer can be made much moeasitined and user friendly with a touch display.

Intellectual Property

We believe that innovation in product engineersajes, marketing, support, and customer relat@mmd,protection of this proprietary technology andwledge
will impact our future success. In addition to eértpatents that are pending, we rely on a comioimatf copyright, trademark, trade secret laws emwtractual provisior
to establish and protect the proprietary rightstuin products.

We have been issued three United States (U.S.htgatecluding our inventions covering the activgtfiunction in response to a touch-aglitte operation on
touch sensitive surface and on a substrate formeelsting display arrangement. We have been ispatghts in five countries outside the U.S. for iowention titled ‘On
a substrate formed or resting display arrangemeéWe’ have eight provisional patent applications] &ifieen nonprovisional patent applications pending in the Uri
addition, we have fourteen pending patent appboatin countries outside the U.S. and one Pateop&ation Treaty (PCT) application.

We have been granted trademark protection for thvel WEONODE in the U.S., the European Union (EWye8en, Norway, and Australia. In addition we t
filed an application for the word NEONODE in theSJto cover additional goods including touchscreentroller Application Specific Integrated CircutdSIC). We
have been granted protection for the figurativekdlEONODE in the U.S., the EU and Sweden. Additiagplications for the figurative trademark ardl gtending ir
Switzerland, China and RussidlVe have been granted trademark protection for el wForce in the U.S. and EU. In addition we hiieel an application for the wo
zForce in the U.S. to cover additional goods initlgdouchscreen controller ASICs. We filed appiicas for the trademarks ALWAYSON, ALWAYSON TOUCH d
MULTI-SENSING in the U.S.

The Companys user interface software described in some oftbeementioned patent applications may also beepted by copyright laws in most countr
including Sweden and the EU (which do not granepiprotection for the software itself), if the tvedre is new and original. Protection can be claifiem the date «
creation.

Consistent with our efforts to maintain the confitiality and ownership of our trade secrets anceiottonfidential information, and to protect andldwur
intellectual property rights, we require our emm@eg and consultants, and certain customers, maordes; suppliers and other persons with whom wbufiness or mi
potentially do business, to execute confidentiadityl invention assignment agreements upon commeamtesh a relationship with us, typically extendifeg a period ¢
time beyond termination of the relationship.

Distribution, Sales and Marketing
We consider both OEMs and ODMs and their contraemtufacturers to be our primary customers. BothQRé#s, ODMs and their contract manufacturers

determine the design and pricing requirements aakienthe overall decision regarding the use of @ar interface solutions in their products. The aisé pricing of oL
interface solutions will be governed by a technglbgensing agreement.




Our sales staff solicits prospective customers @ndsales personnel receive substantial techngs$tance and support from our internal engineesgurce
because of the highly technical nature of our pebdolutions. We expect that sales will frequemégult from multilevel sales efforts that involve senior manager
design engineers, and our sales personnel integawith our potential customers’ decision-makerstighout the product development and order process.

Our sales are normally negotiated and executed$n Dollars or Euros.

Our sales force and marketing operations are manageof our corporate headquarters in Stockholwed®n, and our current sales force is compriseshlief
offices located in Sweden, South Korea, the Netineid and the U.S.

Research and Development

We continue to invest in research and developmérunent and emerging technologies that we dedtitalrto maintaining our competitive position ihe
touchscreen user interface markets. Many fact@snaolved in determining the strategic directidroor product development focus, including trendd developments
the marketplace, competitive analyses, market ddmdusiness conditions, and feedback from ouomests and strategic partners. In both fiscal y2aid and 2010, v
spent $1.9 million in each year on research aneéldpment activities.

We carefully monitor innovations in other technaoésgand are constantly seeking new areas for ajgic of zForce. We have developed a technologgimaeg
that we believe will result in a steady stream @fvrinnovations and areas of use.

Our research and development is predominantlyoimse, but is also done in close collaboration witernal partners and specialists. Our developme#s ce
be divided into the following areas:

Software

Optical
Mechanical
Electrical
Industrial Design

Recent Developments

« On March 12, 2012, we signed a technology licegseeanent with IDT Technology Limited, a subsidiafyOregon Scientific for the use of our touch teabgy
in a childrer's tablet device

« On February 29, 2012, we filed a Certificate of i€otion with the Secretary of State of Delawared@ffely reducing the amount of our authorized sgdron
848,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 2,000,08@slof Preferred Stock to 70,000,000 shares ofr@mmStock and 1,000,000 shares of Preferred ¢
This correction reflects the new capital structofehe Company following its 1-foP5 reverse split that became effective at the ctddeusiness on March
2011.

« On February 21, 2012, we announced the releaserafewly developed MultBensing technology that provides a new way for nm@shto communicate with t
human senses, and enables a far more augmenteur@fodnd user experience than traditional touchltivVBensing was developed to help OEMs and d:
manufacturers differentiate themselves in a cortipetmarket. Ready to be implemented into a widegeaof commercial devices such as smart phonéstd
and automotive touch displays, Neonode’s M8kirsing technology can be used for, but is nottdihito, intuitive gaming, industrial design, and
modeling. This cuttingedge technology identifies any object and determitsesize, pressure, depth, speed and the prgxohin object to a surface. It uses |
with zero latency that can sense and determinetblige a pen, brush, bare/gloved finger or lagects like a hand, at very high spe




On January 30, 2012, our Board of Directors adopte@mendment to our 2006 Equity Incentive Plae (2006 Plan”)to increase the number of share
common stock authorized by issuance under the P@@6by an additional two million (2,000,000) sts&a

On January 19, 2012, we signed a technology licagseement with an OEM related to the use of ouchecreen technology for a universal color toudpldi
for Tablet PCs. In conjunction with the signingtlois technology license agreement, the OEM agregéy us $65,000 in namecurring engineering developm
fees. We are deferring the engineering developrfiegntevenue until such time as the engineering vhak been completed. We expect to complete allcgs
under this contract in 201

On January 15, 2012, we signed a technology licagseement with a global top 5 printer OEM to use uchscreen technology in a series of printém
conjunction with the signing of this technologyeitse agreement, the OEM agreed to pay us $50,000ninecurring engineering development fees. We
deferring the engineering development fee revemi# such time as the engineering work has beenpteted. We expect to complete all services undis
contract in 2012

On January 10, 2012, the U.S. Patent and Trade®ffide issued to us patent number 8,095,879 forepngesture user interfaces. The patent coversatiatiye
function in response to a touch-and-glide operatiora touch sensitive surface. This patent compisndeonodes U.S. patents 7,880,732 and 8,068,10.
small to midsize touchscreen devices. The pateetdthology is marketed and sold as Neor's offer to OEMs and ODM:

On January 4, 2012, we signed a technology licagseement with a global OEM to use our touchscteeimology in a series of GPS devices.

On December 14, 2011, following the consummatiora dinancing in which the gross proceeds to the @amy were in excess of $5 million, the remai
outstanding principal balance of Convertible Ndggsproximately $3.7 million), plus accrued inter@giproximately $130,000), was automatically coteatrintc
1,513,228 shares of our common stock. In additiemjssued 99,461 shares of common stock relatélietbonus interest feature associated with the atary
conversion of the debt. As of December 31, 201llofalhe March and April 2011 Convertible Notesyuplaccrued interest, was paid in cash or convénte
shares of common stock

On December 13, 2011, we sold 3,000,000 sharesmfmon stock of the Company, par value $0.001 parestin a public offering pursuant to a Registm
Statement on Form 8-The shares were sold at a price of $4.00 peesfiie net proceeds to the Company from this iofflervere $11.2 million, after deducti
the underwriting discount but before deducting otestimated offering expenses of approximately $6ilflon payable by the Company. As part of theeoifig
the underwriter, Cowen and Company, LLC (the "Umndier"), sold 1,000,000 shares held by Per Bytstedr executive chairman, and Thomas Eriksson
chief executive officer (together, the “Selling &tbolders”). In addition, the Underwriter exerdsis overallotment option and sold an additional 600,
shares held by the Selling Shareholders. The Coyngia@imot receive any proceeds from the sale ofsirares by the Selling Stockholders or upon theceseeby
the Underwriter of its oveallotment option. The Company anticipates usingreieproceeds from the offering primarily for geadesorporate purposes, includ
capital expenditures and working capi
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In October and November 2011 note holders of $%bd¥ the original approximately $4.2 million Comtible Notes exercised their right to convert thaite:
and accrued interest and were issued 232,125 shiaoes common stock

In March 2011 we issued convertible notes (the ‘@otible Notes”)to investors who loaned the Company an aggregagppfoximately $4.2 million. Tt
Convertible Notes were subject to automatic congarmto shares of our common stock, at a convarpiice of $2.50 per share, in the event we consait@d
financing in the amount of at least $5 million @r@ommon stock was traded at a price of $6.25gien for five (5) consecutive trading day

Overview of the Touchscreen Market and Competition

Competing Touchscreen Technologies

Today there are different touchscreen technologigslable in the market. All of them with differeat slightly different profiles, power consumptideyel of

maturity, and cost price:

Resistive -- uses conductive and resistive layepaated by thin space;

Surface acoustic wave -- uses ultrasonic wave s over the touchscreen panel;

Capacitive and projected capacitivea-capacitive touchscreen panel is coated with anmait typically indium tin oxide, that conductscantinuous electric
current across the sensor. When the sensor's '"haapacitance field (its reference state) is atlidoy another capacitance field, e.g., someon&efj electroni
circuits located at each corner of the panel mesathe resultant 'distortion’ in the sine wave cbi@ristics to detect a touc

Infrared -- uses infrared beams that are brokefingger or heat from the finger sensed from a cartedetect a touch;

Strain gauge -- uses a spring mounted on the fmumecs and strain gauges are used to determinectiefi when the screen is touched;

Optical imaging -- uses two or more image senslarsgpl around the edges (mostly the corners) ofd¢heen and a light source to create a shadow dinter;
In-cell optical touch technology embeds photo sensors or conductive sensors diiatthyan LCD glass. By integrating the touch fuantdirectly into an LCI
glass, the LCD acts like a low resolution camer“se¢’ the shadow of the finge

Dispersive signal technology -- uses sensors tectiéte mechanical energy in the glass that oagerta a touch; and

Acoustic pulse recognition 4uses more than two piezoelectric transducers Idcatesome positions of the screen to turn the mecakhenergy of a tout
(vibration) into an electronic signe

Touchscreen Technologies Competitors:

Company Technology

3M Capacitive, Dispersive Signal Tou
Synaptics Capacitive sensors and IC controll
ATMEL Capacitive touch IC controlle
Cypress Capacitive touch IC controlle
Maxim Capacitive touch IC controlle
Nextwindow Optical with camera sens

Zytronic Capacitive

Tyco Electronic
Touch Internatione
Mass Multimedia Inc
Young Fas

TPK

Capacitive, Resistive, Surface Wa

Resistive and Capaciti

All touchscreen technologit

Capacitive sensor and module ma

Capacitive (provides the capacitive touch sensothie Apple iPhone
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Today's market leading touch technologies, i.esisteve and capacitive technologies make use dbach sensor/windowbr an overlay in combination witk
controller IC to function. In comparison zForce as#ightguide” (to reflect and focus light) togethwith some standard IC components to operate.

Neonode licenses the complete solution to its costs thus there is no need for & Barty to assemble the touch sensor with the cdetr(dalled module make
a step that adds costs to the complete solution.

Below is a comparison table for resistive, capeei{@ types) and zForce touch technologies. Sonze-ofces unique selling points include low power, low
and low weight in combination with a 100 % trangwartouch window.

L " Projective
Feature / Technology Resistive Surface Capacitive b patlily zForce®
Capacitive

Low cost solution
Multi touch support

Finger touch support
Pen support
Gestures

Low power consumption xv v

Weight of 10° tablet >150grams | >200grams | >250 grams | 25grams
Bezel Height Flush Flush ] Flush > 0.4mm
Building Height (10 tab.) >1.5 mm . >2.0 mm . 2 0mm : 0.8mm

No need for calibration

Viewable in sunlight xv ' xv ' x -
[ —

Technology License Agreements

As of December 31, 2011, we have entered into ®vedehnology license agreements compared to febntdogy license agreements as of December 31,.
We have signed three additional technology liceaagreements with customers subsequent to Decemb@031. The products related to these licensecaggats are-e
Readers, Tablet PCs, mobile phones, commerciatansumer printers, automotive consoles and GP2eevi

We are dependent on a number of OEM customershanidss of any one of these customers could hawaterial adverse effect on our future revenue strelr
the short term, we anticipate that we remain dependn a limited number of customers for substiptel of our future revenues. Failure to antidipaor respon
adequately to technological developments in ounstiy, changes in customer or supplier requirementhanges in regulatory requirements or industapdards, or al
significant delays in the development or introdoictof products or services could have a materiatis® effect on our business, operating resultscasi flows.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2011dwasfrom five customers. Our revenues for the ywated December 31, 2011 was earned from :
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBgde and Asia. Customers which accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year endeztidber 3

2011 are as follows:
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» Amazon accounted for 40%

» Barnes & Noble accounted for 26%

. Sony Corporation accounted for 21%
» KOBO Inc. accounted for 11%

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2010dwadrom six customers. Our net revenues for e ¥nded December 31, 2010 was earned from
customers, of which two customers accounted forapmately 84% of our net revenues for the year.

Employees

On December 31, 2011, we had thirty full-time enyples and one part-time employee. We augment dfimsth consultants on an “as needdafisis. There we
a total of twenty-two full-time and one paditre employee located in our corporate headquairiéBsockholm, Sweden. Six employees are locatexdbranch office in tt
United States, one employee is a resident of SKotlea, and one employee is a resident of IsraeheNaf our employees are represented by a labonukie hav
experienced no work stoppages. We believe our grapleelations are positive.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

In addition to the other information in this Anniéport on Form 10-K, stockholders or prospectivestors should carefully consider the followingkrfactors:
Risks Related To Our Business

We may require additional capital to fund our opémans, which capital may not be available on comroiatly attractive terms or at all.

Although we recently raised over $11 million inabfic offering, we may in the future require sowg@é capital in addition to cash on hand to corginperation
and to implement our business plan. We projectuwlehave sufficient liquid assets to continue ofiegafor at least the next twelve months. Howevfeour operation
do not become cash flow positive, we will be for¢ecgeek credit line facilities from financial iitations, additional private equity investment,dmbt arrangements. |
assurances can be given that we will be succeiss@litaining such additional financing on reasoedblms, or at all. If adequate funds are notlalks when needed
acceptable terms, or at all, we may be unable ¢gjaately fund our business plan, which could hamegative effect on our business, results of omersitand financii
condition. In addition, if funds are availablegtissuance of equity securities or securities cdible into equity could dilute the value of shatdour common stock a
cause the market price to fall, and the issuanciebf securities could impose restrictive coventr@scould impair our ability to engage in certhirsiness transactions.

We have never been profitable and we anticipatengigant additional losses in the future

Neonode Inc. was formed in 1997 and reconstitute2Di06 as a holding company, owning and operatiagndde AB, which had been formed in 2004. We
been primarily engaged in the business of devetppind selling mobile phones. Following the liquidatof Neonode AB, we implemented a new strategydia
business. We have a limited operating history dwickvto base an evaluation of our business andppots. Our prospects must be considered in lighhefrisks an
uncertainties encountered by companies in the astalyes of development, particularly companieseiw and rapidly evolving markets. We were not susftesn selling
mobile phones and have refocused our businesscensing our touchscreen technology. We may notubeessful in growing our technology licensing basi Ou
success will depend on many factors, including,nmitimited to:

« the growth of touchscreen interface us¢
» the efforts and success of our OEM and othelocusts;
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« the level of competition faced by us; ¢
< our ability to meet customer demand for engimegsupport, new technology and ongoing sen

Our limited operating history and the emerging ratof our market, together with the other risk dastset forth in this report, make prediction of éuture
operating results difficult. There can also be seuaance that we will ever achieve significant ress or profitability or, if significant revenueadaprofitability ar«
achieved, that they could be sustained.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantlysaa result of a variety of factors, many of whicheaoutside of our control.

We are subject to the following factors, among mththat may negatively affect our operating result

. the announcement or introduction of new product&cinologies by our competito

. our ability to upgrade and develop our productsiafrdstructure to accommodate grow

. our ability to attract and retain key personned itimely and cost effective mann

. technical difficulties

. the amount and timing of operating costs and chgigaenditures relating to the expansion of ouiiess, operations, and infrastructure;
. general economic conditions as well as economiditions specific to the harheld device and/or touchscreen indus

As a result of our limited operating history and tiature of the markets in which we compete, éxisemely difficult for us to forecast accurateMie have bas¢
our current and future expense levels largely animeestment plans and estimates of future everifspugh certain of our expense levels are, tagelaxtent, fixed. W
may be unable to adjust spending in a timely matmeompensate for any unexpected revenue shor#iaitordingly, any significant shortfall in revegmirelative to ot
planned expenditures would have an immediate ae\effect on our business, results of operationsfawaghcial condition. Further, as a strategic cese to changes
the competitive environment, we may from time todimake certain pricing, service, or marketing sleos that could have a material and adverse effeciur busines
results of operations, and financial condition.eDa the foregoing factors, our revenues and ojperagsults are and will remain difficult to foreta

If we fail to develop and introduce new productsaservices successfully and in a cost effective &ntely manner, we will not be able to compete efieely
and our ability to generate revenues will suffer

We operate in a highly competitive, rapidly evolyianvironment, and our success depends on outyaildevelop and introduce new products, technglagc
services that our customers and end users chodmeytdf we are unsuccessful at developing anaéhicing new products, technology, and servicesdtaappealing
our customers and end users with acceptable qualites and terms, we will not be able to compdfectively and our ability to generate revenuel suiffer.

The development of new products, technology, amdices is very difficult and requires high levelsionovation. The development process is also enginc
costly. If we fail to anticipate our end usergeds or technological trends accurately or if weeumable to complete the development of produstsservices in a cc
effective and timely fashion, we will be unabldntroduce new products and services into the marksticcessfully compete with other providers.

As we introduce new or enhanced products or integraw technology into new or existing products,faee risks including, among other things, disruptir
customers’ ordering patterns, inability to delivew products to meet customedgmand, possible product and technology defects patentially unfamiliar sales a
support environments. Premature announcementsks & new products, features, or technologies exagerbate some of these risks. Our failure to gmtize transitio
to newer products or the integration of newer tetbgy into new or existing products could adversafgct our business, results of operations, amahftial condition.

14




We are dependent on the ability of our customerslésign, manufacture and sell their products thatbrporate our touchscreen technologies.

Our products and technologies are licensed to athepanies which must be successful in designiramufacturing and selling the products that incoapoou
technologies. If our customers are not able togiesnanufacture or sell their products, or areydsdan producing their products, our revenues,iboility, and liquidity
as well as our brand image, may be adversely affect

We must significantly enhance our sales and proddetvelopment organizations.

We will need to improve the effectiveness and bttead our sales efforts in order to increase magkeareness and sales of our technologies, espeagve
expand into new market segments. Competition falified sales personnel is intense, and we maybeoable to hire the kind and number of sales peedome ar
targeting. Likewise, our efforts to improve andimefour products require skilled engineers and ogners. Competition for professionals capablexpiaading ou
research and development efforts is intense duketdimited number of people available with the essary technical skills. If we are unable to idgnfhire, or retai
qualified sales, marketing, and technical persqrmgl ability to achieve future revenue may be askly affected.

We will need to increase the size of our organipatiand we may be unable to manage our growth dffesty.

Our failure to manage growth effectively could haveaterial and adverse effect on our businessltsesf operations and financial condition. Weieipate tha
expansion of our organization will be required tidiess internal growth to handle licensing and aese activities. This expansion may place a sigaift strain o
management, operational, and financial resourtesmanage the expected growth of our operationspansonnel, we must both improve our existing ofpemal anc
financial systems, procedures, and controls, arglement new systems, procedures, and controls.mM\%& also expand our finance, administrative, apération
staff. Our current personnel, systems, procedaras controls may not adequately support futureatjmers. Management may be unable to hire, tretajm, motivate, ar
manage the necessary personnel, or to identifyageand exploit existing and potential stratedati@nships and market opportunities .

We are dependent on the services of our key persbnn

We are dependent on our current management fdiotkeeeable future. The loss of the services ofraagnber of management could have a materially ae
effect on our operations and future prospects.

We are dependent on a limited number of customers.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2011dwadgrom five customers. Our net revenues foryger ended December 31, 2011 was earned from
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBge and Asia. Customers which accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year endezkibber 31
2011 are as follows:

» Amazon accounted for 40%

» Barnes & Noble accounted for 26%

» Sony Corporation accounted for 21%
» KOBO Inc. accounted for 11%
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In the future, the loss of any of these customergduction in net revenues to any of these custfoeany reason, or a failure of any of theseamsrs to fulfil
their financial or other obligations due to us ebbhve a material adverse affect on our busingemdial condition, and future revenue stream.

If third parties infringe our intellectual propertyor if we are unable to secure and protect our iéetual property, we may expend significant resoet
enforcing our rights or suffer competitive injury.

Our success depends in large part on our propyiegeahnology and other intellectual property righge rely on a combination of patents, copyrightsdemark
and trade secrets, confidentiality provisions, Aoehsing arrangements to establish and protectpoaprietary rights. Our intellectual property, fi@rlarly our patent:
may not provide us with a significaobmpetitive advantage. If we fail to protect orettforce our intellectual property rights succedgfudur competitive position cou
suffer, which could harm our results of operations.

Our pending patent and trademark applications dgistration may not be allowed, or others may elnajé the validity or scope of our patents or treatés
including patent or trademark applications or regttons. Even if our patents or trademark regiigins are issued and maintained, these patentaderharks may not
of adequate scope or benefit to us or may be hellid and unenforceable against third parties.

We may be required to spend significant resourcesdnitor and police our intellectual property tghEffective policing of the unauthorized use of product
or intellectual property is difficult and litigatiomay be necessary in the future to enforce owll@ttual property rights. Intellectual propertigation is not onl
expensive, but timeensuming, regardless of the merits of any claim, @ould divert attention of our management frorarafing the business. Despite our efforts, we
not be able to detect infringement and may losepatditive position in the market before they dolsoaddition, competitors may design around our netbgy or develo
competing technologies. Intellectual property rightay also be unavailable or limited in some fareiguntries, which could make it easier for contpedito captur
market share.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary tgghexisting laws, contractual provisions and reieedfford only limited protection. Intellectualgmerty lawsuit
are subject to inherent uncertainties due to, amaihgr things, the complexity of the technical &sunvolved, and we cannot assure you that wehgilsuccessful
asserting our intellectual property rights. Attemptay be made to copy or reverse engineer aspeotsr @roducts or to obtain and use informatiort tva regard ¢
proprietary. Accordingly, we cannot assure you thtwill be able to protect our proprietary rightginst unauthorized third party copying or usee hauthorized use
our technology or of our proprietary information @ympetitors could have an adverse effect on oilityato sell our products.

We have an international presence in countries whdaws may not provide protection of our intellealuproperty rights to the same extent as the lavithe
United States, which may make it more difficult fais to protect our intellectual property.

As part of our business strategy, we target custered relationships with suppliers and originalipment manufacturers in countries with large papahs an
propensities for adopting new technologies. Howersny of these countries do not address misapptapr of intellectual property nor deter othersnfr developin
similar, competing technologies or intellectual gedy. Effective protection of patents, copyrightsdemarks, trade secrets and other intellectuapgrty may b
unavailable or limited in some foreign countrigsphrticular, the laws of some foreign countriesvhich we do business may not protect our intallecproperty rights 1
the same extent as the laws of the United States #esult, we may not be able to effectively ptwwempetitors in these regions from infringing euellectual propert
rights, which could reduce our competitive advaatagd ability to compete in those regions and megjgtimpact our business.
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Changes in financial accounting standards or pracéis may cause unexpected fluctuations in and adelraffect our reported results of operations.

Any change in financial accounting standards octizas that cause a change in the methodologyamepures by which we track, calculate, record apdnt ou
results of operations or financial condition orbabuld cause fluctuations in, and adversely affeat reported results of operations and causehmtiorical financie
information not to be reliable as an indicatorutife results.

Further deterioration in the state of the global ecomy and financial market conditions could advehgaffect our ability to conduct business and ouesults
of operations.

Global economic and financial market conditionsluding severe disruptions in the credit marketd #re continuing impact of the recent global ecoiv
recession may materially impact our customers ahdrgarties with whom we do business. Continuetlidher deterioration in general economic anaificial marke
conditions could materially adversely affect ounaficial condition and results of operations. Spetly, the impact of these volatile and negatbamnditions may incluc
decreased demand for our products and servicessabsrl ability to accurately forecast future prodrends and demand, and a negative impact onlalityao timely
collect receivables from our customers. The foreg@conomic conditions may lead to increased ewébankruptcies, restructurings, and liquidatiforsour customer
scaling back of research and development experditaielays in planned projects, and shifts in mssirstrategies for many of our customers. Suchtgeweuld, in turr
adversely affect our business through loss of regen

Wars, terrorist attacks or other threats beyond arontrol could negatively impact consumer confidenavhich could harm our operating results.

Wars, terrorist attacks or other threats beyondamntrol could have an adverse impact on the Un8tades, Europe and the world economy in genena
consumer confidence and spending in particularcivhould harm our business, results of operatiodsfiaancial condition.

Risks Related to Owning Our Stock
If we continue to experience losses, we could eigrece difficulty meeting our business plan and ostiock price could be negatively affected.

If we are unable to gain market acceptance of ouchiscreen technologies, we will experience coitwperating losses and negative cash flow from
operations. Any failure to achieve or maintain padfility could negatively impact the market prioé our common stock. We anticipate that we will thome to incu
product development, sales and marketing, and astmgtive expenses. As a result, we will need toegate significant quarterly revenues if we areathieve an
maintain profitability. A substantial failure to lieve profitability could make it difficult or immsible for us to grow our business. Our businesgesty may not t
successful, and we may not generate significargme®s or achieve profitability. Any failure to sigrantly increase revenues would also harm oulitglib achieve an
maintain profitability. If we do achieve profitaltyl in the future, we may not be able to sustaiinorease profitability on a quarterly or annuadiba

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws and tHeelaware General Corporation Law contain provisisthat could delay or prevent a change in control.

Our board of directors has the authority to isspeau1,000,000 shares of Preferred stock and terahate the price, rights, preferences and privéegethos
shares without any further vote or action by theeldholders. The rights of the holders of commomwlstwill be subject to, and may be materially aderaffected by, tr
rights of the holders of any Preferred stock thay e issued in the future. The issuance of Pedestock could have the effect of making it mofféadilt for a third part;
to acquire a majority of our outstanding votingcitoFurthermore, certain other provisions of outifieate of incorporation and bylaws may have éffect of delaying ¢
preventing changes in control or management, wbiehd adversely affect the market price of our camrstock. In addition, we are subject to the priowis of Sectio
203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, anrtakeover law.
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Our stock price has been volatile, and your investmin our common stock could suffer a decline ialue.

There has been significant volatility in the marggte and trading volume of equity securities, aihis unrelated to the financial performance of cbmpanie
issuing the securities. These broad market flurinatmay negatively affect the market price of common stock. You may not be able to resell yoareh at or abo
the price you pay for those shares due to fluatnatin the market price of our common stock causedhanges in our operating performance or prospecid othe
factors.

Some specific factors that may have a significéfieceon our common stock market price include:

« actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operatiegults or future prospects;

«  Our announcements or our competitors’ announceneémtsw products;

« the public’s reaction to our press releases, cherghublic announcements, and our filings with $ifC;

.  strategic actions by us or our competitors, sudhcasisitions or restructurings;

« new laws or regulations or new interpretationsxa$ting laws or regulations applicable to our bessy

« changes in accounting standards, policies, guidantpretations or principles;

« changes in our growth rates or our competitorsivginarates;

« developments regarding our patents or proprieights or those of our competitors;

« ourinability to raise additional capital as needed

« concern as to the efficacy of our products;

« changes in financial markets or general economiciitions;

« sales of common stock by us or members of our meanegt team; and

« changes in stock market analyst recommendatioramings estimates regarding our common stockr othe
comparable companies, or our industry gener

Future sales of our common stock by our stockhold&ould negatively affect our stock price.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our camstock in the public market by our stockholdersthe perception that these sales might occuldadepres
the market price of our common stock and could impar ability to raise capital through the saleadflitional equity securities. All of the sharéLommon stock sold
our recent public offering are freely tradable withrestrictions or further registration under 8ecurities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Seearitct, and thus the pri
of our common stock may decline.

Future sales of our common stock by us could adedysaffect its price, and our future capitahising activities could involve the issuance ofiety securities
which would dilute your investment and could resita decline in the trading price of our commonastk.

We may sell securities in the public or privateiggmarkets if and when conditions are favorabigreif we do not have an immediate need for adutti@apita
at that time. Sales of substantial amounts of comstock, or the perception that such sales coutdrocould adversely affect the prevailing markete of our commo
stock and our ability to raise capital. We may éssalditional common stock in future financing ti@tgns or as incentive compensation for our exeeuhanageme
and other key personnel, consultants and advisssging any equity securities would be dilutivethe equity interests represented by our tbetstanding shares
common stock. The market price for our common stomld decrease as the market takes into accoertiliitive effect of any of these issuances. Funtioee, we ma
enter into financing transactions at prices tharesent a substantial discount to the market mfoeur common stock. A negative reaction by inves@nd securitie
analysts to any discounted sale of our equity s@éesicould result in a decline in the trading praf our common stock.

We will have broad discretion in using the net peeds from our recent public offering, and the beiteffrom our use of the proceeds may not meet inoes
expectations.

Our management will have broad discretion overaliecation of our net proceeds from our recent jpubifering as well as over the timing of their usihout
stockholder approval. We have not yet determined the net proceeds from our recent public offenvity be used, other than for working capital artiey gener:
corporate purposes. As a result, investors wilkddging upon management's judgment with only lgdiinformation about our specific intentions foe tise of our n
proceeds from this offering. Our failure to apfiigse proceeds effectively could cause our busioessffer.
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If securities analysts do not publish research 6securities analysts or other third parties pubisnaccurate or unfavorable research about us, thece of oul
common stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will retygart on the research and reports that secuaitialysts and other third parties choose to publisiut us. W
do not control these analysts or other third psrti€he price of our common stock could declinenié or more securities analysts downgrade our canstozk or if one ¢
more securities analysts or other third partiediphitinaccurate or unfavorable research about ugase publishing reports about us.

Our common stock is currently traded on the OTC Batin Board Market. Our stock price and liquidity ay continue to be impacted.

Our common stock is traded on the OTC Bulletin Blomarket, which is generally considered a les<iefit and less prestigious market than other msyket!
as the Nasdaq Capital Market. The price and liggiofi our stock may continue to be adversely aéfdcs a result of our common stock trading on th€ Bulletin Boar«
Market.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

N one.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakréiatigheter AB for 2,207 square feet of officecgpbocated at Linnegatan 89, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $6,000 per month including propeay ¢excluding VAT). The annual payment for this @paquates to approximately $66,000 per year imggugropert
tax (excluding VAT). This lease has a notice penb@ months.

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakré&aatigheter AB for 2,723 square feet of officecgpbocated at Linnegatan 89D, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $8,000 per month including propeaty texcluding VAT). The annual payment for this @paquates to approximately $93,000 per year iimggugropert'
tax (excluding VAT). This lease is valid thru Dedsen 31, 2014, with a 9 month notice period. Thetrmm will be extended for an additional 3 years i§ not terminate
according to the terms in the contract.

On March 18, 2011, we entered into a twelve moe#sé with CASanta Clara Office Center Limited Partnership fopraximately 1,718 square feet of off
space located at 2700 Augustine Drive, Suite 1@0t&8Clara, California, USA for approximately $Z6fr month. The lease expires on April 30, 2012.

On March 22, 2012, we entered into a 39 month ledtle 2350 Mission Investors LLC for approximate3yl85 square feet of office space located at
Mission College Blvd, Suite 190, Santa Clara, CA®% USA. The initial lease payment is approximaf,000 per month, increasing to $7,700 per mowtr the terr
of the lease. The annual payment for this spacateguo approximately $84,000 per year.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

None

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable
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PART Il

ITEM5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

Our common stock has been quoted on the Over thet€oBulletin Board Market (OTCBB) under the syhB&ON.OB. As of December 31, 2011, there v
approximately 2,611 shareholders of record of ammon stock.

Fiscal Quarter Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31
Fiscal 2011
High $ 33 % 44C $ 47C % 5.97
Low $ 128 $ 2.9t 34C $ 4.0C
Fiscal 201(
High $ 1.0 $ 128 $ 20C 3 2.0C
Low $ 05C $ 0. 5C 0.7t % 1.5C

There are no restrictions on our ability to payidinds; however, it is currently the intention of @oard of Directors to retain all earnings, ifyafor use in oL
business and we do not anticipate paying cashetidsl in the foreseeable future. Any future deteation as to the payment of dividends will depemdpag other factor
upon our earnings, capital requirements, opera#nsglts and financial condition.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.
ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT 'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management’s Discussion and AnalgéBinancial Condition and Results of Operationsiteans forwardlooking statements that involve risks
uncertainties. Words such as “believes,” “anticipat” “expects,” “intends” and similar expressiongaintended to identify forwartboking statements, but are not
exclusive means of identifying such statementsddeare cautioned that the forwalobking statements reflect our analysis only ashef date hereof, and we do
assume any obligation to update these statemeatsalfevents or results may differ materially fréime results discussed in or implied by the forwkaking statement
The following discussion should be read in conjiomctvith the Companyg’ consolidated financial statements for the yeairded December 31, 2011 and 2010 anc
related notes included therein.

Overview

Neonode Inc provides optical infrared touchscreelut®ns for handheld and small to midsized consuara industrial electronic devices. We license
touchscreen technology to Original Equipment Maaufers (“OEMs”) and Original Design Manufacturdf®©DMs") who imbed our touchscreen technology
electronic devices that they develop and sell. ddr@erstone of our solution is our innovative ogitinfrared touchscreen technology zForce Z&orce can be applied
any flat surface such as Liquid Crystal Display€@), Electronic Paper Displays (EPD) or as a Md®aeé and can be incorporated into all types of desyienabling touc
detection for any type of object (finger, pen, glax brush). In addition the zForce touch solutias a low total weight and building height, thuatdimg greater industri
design flexibility. Since nothing is layered on topthe display, the zForce solution provides 10886cal transparency, which improves image quatiéguces glare, a
improves battery life.
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We have recently developed our Muliensing technology to help OEMs and device manufexs differentiate themselves in a competitivekaarReady to k
implemented into a wide range of commercial devisash as smart phones, tablets and automotiveagispbur MultiSensing technology can be used for, but i
limited to, intuitive gaming, industrial design,caBD modeling.

Our technology licensing model allows us to focustloe development of solutions for muiich enabled screens and thus we do not haventerab with th
financial and logistical burden of manufacturinggucts, which is handled by our ODM/OEM clients. éense the right to use zForce and software whiether wit
standard components from partners, create a coenpjtical touchscreen solution. zForce is currebéing integrated into products such as mobile pepautomotiv
products, e-Readers, printers, GPS devices ancefTaia@Ss. It should be noted that our licensing model gles the added benefit of allowing us to grow resse
exponentially without the need of increasing cestanywhere near the same rate to support the uevgnowth.

We have incurred net operating losses and negapeeating cash flows since inception. As of Decen8fe 2011, we had an accumulated deficit of $1
million. During the years ended December 31, 201d 2010, we raised approximately $15.5 million &4d million, respectively, of net cash proceednith the sale
our securities and convertible debt. We may inclditional losses on a quarterly basis during 2@12,do expect to generate net income and posifreeading cash flow
for the year ended December 31, 2012. We believédhave sufficient cash to operate for the remairafe2012, and thereafter, expect to receive sufiiceash fror
customer license agreements currently in placeévate for at least the next twelve months.

Our success is dependent on our obtaining sufficapital or operating cash flows to fund our ofierss and to develop our technology and bringingh
technology to the worldwide market. To achieve abijectives, we may be required to raise additi@agital through public or private financings oretlarrangements.
cannot be assured that such financings will belavai on terms attractive to us, if at all. Suamaficings may be dilutive to stockholders and maytain restrictiv:
covenants.

In addition, we are subject to certain risks comnmnechnology-based companies in similar stagedegElopment. See “Risk Factorabove. Principal ris}
include risks relating to the uncertainty of growihmarket acceptance for our technology, a histdrpsses since inception, our ability to remadmpetitive in respon:
to new technologies, the costs to defend, as vgetisks of losing, patents and intellectual propeights, a reliance on our future customeasility to develop and st
products that incorporate our technology, the ua@aly of demand for our technology in certain nedsk our ability to manage growth effectively, dependence on k
members of our management and development teaniipotad experience in conducting operations in&gionally, and our ability to obtain adequate calpiv fund futur
operations.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets are in conformity with generally acceptedoacting principles in the United States (“GAAPdhc
include the accounts of Neonode Inc. and its whollyned subsidiary based in Sweden, Neonode Tecbies|éd\B.

All inter-company accounts and transactions have been etedina consolidation. The accounting policies dffeg our financial condition and results
operations are more fully described in Note 2 toaansolidated financial statements. Certain ofamaounting policies require the application ofgo@ént by manageme
in selecting appropriate assumptions for calcufpfinancial estimates, which inherently contain sotkegree of uncertainty. Management bases its @&stihon historic
experience and various other assumptions thatelievbd to be reasonable under the circumstandeshiktorical experience and assumptions form #siskfor makin
judgments about the reported carrying values adtasnd liabilities and the reported amounts oénere and expenses that may not be readily appfanembther source
Actual results may differ from these estimates urdifferent assumptions or conditions. We belielve tollowing are some of the more critical accongtpolicies an
related judgments and estimates used in the pramauat our consolidated financial statements.
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Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conféymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhia United States of America requires making et an
assumptions that affect, at the date of the codat@d financial statements, the reported amounégs®éts and liabilities, disclosure of contingesstets and liabilities a
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses. |&esudts could differ from these estimates. Sigaifit estimates include, but are not limited tdlexibility of account
receivable, recoverability of lonlj+ed assets, the valuation allowance related todmferred tax assets, the fair value of derivatharuments, and the fair value
securities such as options and warrants issuestdok-based compensation and in certain financagsactions.

Concentration of Cash Balance Risks

Cash balances are maintained at various banksiti. and Sweden. At times, deposits held witarfaial institutions in the United States of Amerinay
exceed the amount of insurance provided by the raé@eeposit Insurance Corporation (“FDICYhich provides basic deposit coverage with limipsta $250,000 p
owner. In addition to the basic insurance depositecage, the FDIC is providing temporary unlimiteaverage for nointerest bearing transaction accounts thr
December 31, 2012. The Swedish government prowdesance coverage up to 100,000 euro per custantbcovers deposits in all types of accounts. ABexfembe
31, 2011, the Company has approximately $1.2 millioexcess of this limit.

Revenue Recognition
Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services to austomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. rd@mgnize revenue from these services when alhe
following conditions are met: (1) evidence existéén arrangement with the customer, typically éstitgy of a purchase order or contract; (2) ouvises were performe
and risk of loss passed to the customer; (3) wepbeted all of the necessary terms of the contri@tthe amount of revenue to which we were entithex$ fixed o
determinable; and (5) we believed it was probatiié we would be able to collect the amount due ftieencustomer. To the extent that one or moreeddltonditions h
not been satisfied, we defer recognition of reven@enerally, we recognize revenue as the engimgssgrvices stipulated under the contact are cdegpknd accepted
our customers.

Licensing Revenues:

We also derive revenue from the licensing of intdlyndeveloped intellectual property (“IP"We enter into IP licensing agreements that genegibvide
licensees the right to incorporate our IP compaménttheir products with terms and conditions thaty by licensee. The IP licensing agreements gdlgeinclude i
nonexclusive license for the underlying IP. Feedeurthese agreements may include license feesngelatour IP and royalties payable following ttedesby our license
of products incorporating the licensed technoldbye license for our IP has standalone value andbeansed by the licensee without maintenance apdost As ol
December 31, 2011, Neonode meets all the accoungiqgirements for revenue recognition as per wy#lty products are distributed or licensed by @Gwmpanys
customers. For technology license arrangements that do rquire significant modification or customization thfe underlying technology, we recognize techna
license revenue when: (1) we enter into a legailyling arrangement with a customer for the liceostechnology; (2) customer distributes or licetise products; (-
customer payment is deemed fixed or determinalder@e of contingencies or significant uncertaisitiend (4) collection is reasonably assured.
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Prior to September 30, 2011, we deferred the tdolggdicense fee revenue until such time as theamdy period stipulated in the applicable licengeeamer
expired because we did not have sufficient hisabrexperience in estimating potential warranty sostrom June 2010 to December 31, 2011, we eniatedlZ
technology license contracts with customers. Dytimat time there were no warranty related costsried for any customer products after they havenbeleased
market. During the quarter ended September 301,20 Company performed an analysis and deterntimetdit had sufficient historical evidence regagliestimate
warranty costs and therefore began recognizingntdofy license fee revenues, net of warranty catmy, as the products incorporating the Neontd#nology ar
distributed or licensed by our customers, assuraihgther revenue recognition criteria have beeh n@ur customers report to us the quantities ofipcts distributed k
them after the end of the reporting period stimdah the contract, generally 30 to 45 days afterend of the month or quarter.

Explicit return rights are not offered to customdrsere have been no returns through December(31,.2
Hardware Products:

We may from time-tdime develop custom hardware products for our eusts that incorporate our touch technology. Ouicgadk to recognize revenue frc
hardware product sales when title transfers amdofisoss has passed to the customer, which isrgéyp@pon shipment of our hardware products toaistomers. We w
estimate expected sales returns and record therdrasia reduction of revenue and cost of hardwadeother revenue at the time of shipment. To da¢éehave not so
any hardware products.

Software Products:

We may derive revenues from software licensingssae will account for the licensing of softwaredaccordance with accounting guidance and suchagai
requires judgment, including whether a softwarargement includes multiple elements, and if so,thérevendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOH)fair value
exists for those elements.

For software license arrangements that do not regignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we will recognize new softeéicens
revenue when: (1) we enter into a legally bindinguagement with a customer for the license of safew (2) we deliver the products; (3) customer peytris deeme
fixed or determinable and free of contingenciesignificant uncertainties; and (4) collection iagenably assured.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted new authoritativdagae on a prospective basis for revenue arrangsno®ntaining multiple deliverables. This guide
requires us to allocate revenues to all delivemablesed on their relative selling price using acigehierarchy. The hierarchy is as follows: vendpecific objectiv
evidence (“VSOE”"), third-party evidence of sellipgce (“TPE”) or best estimate of selling price EBP”).

When a sale involves multiple elements, we wilbadite the entire fee from the arrangement to ezsyhective element based on VSOE of fair value aadgniz:
revenue when each elementevenue recognition criteria are met. VSOE af aiue for each element is established based ®@pribe charged when the same eleme
sold separately. We have established VSOE for oftware licenses based on historical stalahe sales to third parties or from the stateéwah rates contained in 1
customer contracts. Maintenance service revenge@gnized on a straight-line basis over the supgpatod.

We have not yet demonstrated VSOE for the professiservices that are rendered in conjunction withsoftware license sales. In accordance witthiéearch
we would attempt to establish the selling pricepoffessional services using TPE. Our product costaignificant differentiation such that the congide pricing ¢
products with similar functionality cannot be obied. We are typically not able to obtain TPE farfpssional services.

When we are unable to establish selling pricesgusiBOE or TPE, we use BESP. The objective of BES® determine the price at which we would trans
sale if professional services were sold on a stdode basis. BESP is generally used for offerihgs &re not typically sold on a staalbne basis or for highly customi:
offerings.

We will also continue to defer revenues that regmesindelivered postelivery engineering support until the engineersugport has been completed anc
software product is accepted. To date, we havealdtany software products.
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The adoption of this guidance did not have a mateffect on our consolidated financial statements.
Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Acous

Our accounts receivable are stated at net readiaaiile. Our policy is to maintain allowances fstimated losses resulting from the inability of customers 1
make required payments. Credit limits are establistnrough a process of reviewing the financiatdnisand stability of each customer. Where appaipriwe obtai
credit rating reports and financial statements wf customers when determining or modifying theiedir limits. We regularly evaluate the collectibyliof our trad:
receivable balances based on a combination ofrf&adféhen a customex’account balance becomes past due, we initidiegdia with the customer to determine the ce
If it is determined that the customer will be ureatd meet its financial obligation, such as in¢hse of a bankruptcy filing, deterioration in thustomers operating resul
or financial position, or other material events aofing its business, we record a specific allowanceduce the related receivable to the amounéxpect to recove
Should all efforts fail to recover the related iigable, we will writeoff the account. We also record an allowance focatomers based on certain other factors, inol
the length of time the receivables are past dueoandiistorical collection experience with customer

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs represent costs incurred imetion with the issuance of the convertible npi@gable. Debt issuance costs are amortized oveetireof th
financing instrument on a straight-line basis, vahég@proximates the effective interest method.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiegicosts for the years ended December 31, 20d12860 were approximately $241,000 and $28
respectively.

Product Research and Development

Research and development (“R&Dpsts are expensed as incurred. R&D costs maimigisbof personnel related costs in addition toes@xternal consultan
costs such as testing, certifying and measurements.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net@fraulated depreciation and amortization. Depririaand amortization are computed using the sttdigh
method based upon estimated useful lives of thet@isanging from three to five years as follows:

Computer equipmet 3 years
Furniture and fixture 5 years

Equipment purchased under capital leases is aradrtim a straight-line basis over the estimateduligf of the asset or term of the lease, whichéseshorter.

Upon retirement or sale of property and equipmessf and accumulated depreciation and amortizatiememoved from the accounts and any gains oedoes
reflected in the consolidated statement of opemnatiMaintenance and repairs are charged to expanseurred.

24




Long-Lived Assets

We assess any impairment by estimating the futasl 8ow from the associated asset in accordaniteagcounting guidance. If the estimated undiscedicas
flow related to these assets decreases in thesfotuhe useful life is shorter than originallyiestted, we may incur charges for impairment of ¢hessets. The impairm:
is based on the estimated discounted cash flonceed with the asset.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

We measure the cost of employee services receiverichange for an award of equity instrumentsuiticlg share options, based on the fair value oathard ol
grant date, and recognize it as compensation egp@rer the period the employee is required to pi@giervices in exchange for the award, usuallw#sting period, ni
of estimated forfeitures. We account for equitytriments issued to namployees in accordance with accounting guidanbeharequires that such equity instrument
recorded at their fair value and the unvested portie remeasured each reporting period. When determiniogkdbased compensation expense involving optionl
warrants, we determine the estimated fair valugptibns and warrants using the Black-Scholes oggrizing model.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gairend Losses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythe applicable local currency, the Swedish Kroftge translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dollis
performed for balance sheet accounts using cuenasitange rates in effect at the balance sheetadaltéor income statement accounts using a weightecage exchan
rate during the period. Gains or losses resultingftranslation are included as a separate compafiextcumulated other comprehensive income (Id3a)ns or losse
resulting from foreign currency transactions areluded in general and administrative expenses énattrompanying consolidated statements of opestod wer
$44,000 and $23,000 during the years ended Dece®ih@011 and 2010, respectively. For the yeareemecember 31, 2011 and 2010, our foreign curréanslatiol
gains totaled $76,000 and $33,000, respectively.

Liabilities for Warrants and Embedded Derivatives

We do not enter into derivative contracts for pegm of risk management or speculation. Howevem ftime to time, we enter into contracts that aot
considered derivative financial instruments in tthegitirety but that include embedded derivativéuess, such as conversion features that contairddation rights. Suc
embedded derivatives are assessed at inceptidreafantract and every reporting period, dependmgheir characteristics, and are accounted foreparate derivati
financial instruments pursuant to accounting guiganf such embedded conversion features, if feeelbhg, would meet the classification of a lialiliAccounting
guidance requires that we analyze all materialrectg and determine whether or not they containeelided derivatives. Any such embedded conversidoreEathat me
the above criteria are then bifurcated from theisthcontract and recorded on the consolidated balaheet at fair value and the changes in thevédire of thes
derivatives are recorded each period in the cotat@d statements of operations as an increasemade to non-cash charges.

Similarly, if warrants meet the criteria in accanda with accounting guidance to be classified asillties, then the fair value of the warrants ageorded on tt
consolidated balance sheet at their fair valued,any changes in such fair values are recorded pexibd in the consolidated statements of operatasan increase
decrease to non-cash charges.

Accounting for Debt Issued with Detachable Stockrebhase Warrants and Beneficial Conversion Features
We account for debt issued with stock purchaseamgsrby allocating the proceeds of the debt betvileerlebt and the detachable warrants based aeltteve
fair values of the debt security without the watsaand the warrants themselves, if the warrantequéy instruments. The relative fair value of arrants is recorded

a debt discount and amortized to expense oveiiftheflthe related debt using the straight line moelt which approximates the effective interest roettAt each balan
sheet date, we make a determination if these waimsimuments should be classified as liabilitie®quity, and reclassify them if the circumstandiesate.
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In certain instances, the Company enters into atible notes that provide for an effective or atttate of conversion that is below market valued &me
embedded conversion feature does not qualify foraive treatment (a “BCF”)In these instances, we account for the value oBBE as a debt discount, which is t
amortized to expense over the life of the relatglot dising the straight-line method, which approstesahe effective interest method.

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share amounts have been computed bastn weighted average number of shares of constawk outstanding during the period. Net loss
share, assuming dilution amounts from common sespkvalents, is computed based on the weightecageenumber of shares of common stock and potesdramor
stock equivalents outstanding during the periode Weighted average number of shares of common stedkpotential common stock equivalents used inpedimg the
net loss per share for the year ended Decemb@031, and 2010, respectively, exclude the poteatimimon stock equivalents, as the effect would tieddntive.

Comprehensive Loss

Our comprehensive loss includes foreign currenagdiation gains and losses. The cumulative amdutraieslation gains and losses are reflected aparat
component in stockholders’ equity (deficit) and @oehensive income (loss).

Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with @tiog guidance. Accounting guidance requires raitmmn of deferred tax liabilities and assets fbe
expected future tax consequences of items that lbese included in the consolidated financial states or tax returns. We estimate income taxes baisedtes in effe
in each of the jurisdictions in which we operatef@red income tax assets and liabilities are detexd based upon differences between the finastaéément and incor
tax bases of assets and liabilities using enaetedates in effect for the year in which the diéieces are expected to reverse. The realizatioefefréd tax assets is ba
on historical tax positions and expectations alfoture taxable income. Valuation allowances ar@med against net deferred tax assets when, iomnion, realizatio
is uncertain based on the “not more likely thari odteria of the accounting guidance.

Based on the uncertainty of future piee-income, we fully reserved our net deferred aasets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. In th& exe were t
determine that we would be able to realize our mefetax assets in the future, an adjustment todéferred tax asset would increase income in th®geuch
determination was made. The provision for incomxesaepresents the net change in deferred tax @sqlas income taxes payable for the current gerio

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provssioh the accounting, which provisions included @-step approach to recognizing, @&ognizing an
measuring uncertain tax positions accounted faczordance with the accounting guidance.

Cash Flow Information
Cash flows in foreign currencies have been condexiel.S. dollars at an approximate weighted aveghange rate for the respective reporting psridtie
weighted average exchange rate for the consolidatedments of operations was 6.50 and 7.21 Swédisha to one U.S. Dollar for the years ended Ddmam31, 201

and 2010, respectively. The exchange rate for msalidated balance sheets was 6.92 and 6.78 Swkdima to one U.S. Dollar as of December 31, 28id 201(
respectively.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We disclose the estimated fair values for all fiiahinstruments for which it is practicable toiesite fair value. Financial instruments includirasles, accoun
receivable, payables and derivatives are deemegbpooximate fair value due to their short matusiti€he carrying amounts of convertible debt carreteasonab
determined since no quoted market prices exighiese instruments and quoted prices for similarunsents cannot be located.

Deferred Revenue
Engineering development fees are recorded as defezvenue until such time as the engineering sesviave been provided.

As of December 31, 2011, we havkSBmillion of deferred license fee revenue reldted prepayment for future license fee from ongt@mer and a total of $(
million of deferred engineering development feesrfrfour customers. We are deferring the engineatagelopment fee revenue until such time as théneagng worl
has been completed. We expect to complete allgvinder these contracts by the fourth quart20d2.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Staslsl®oard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards UpddASU 2009-13"),Multiple-Deliverable Revent
Arrangement:, which amends the revenue guidance under ASC TafjicRevenue Recognitigrwhich describes the accounting for multiplement arrangements. A
200943 addresses how to determine whether an arrangémetving multiple deliverables contains morernhane unit of accounting and how arrangement censfibr
shall be measured and allocated to the separateafraccounting in the arrangement. ASU 2009-1ffisctive on a prospective basis for the Compsifigcal year 201
with earlier adoption permitted. The Company adog&U 200913 on January 1, 2011 and determined that the ihopt this guidance did not have a material effm
the consolidated financial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009€kettain Revenue Arrangements That Include SoftEementy“ASU 2009-14"),which excludes tangib
products containing software components and notwaoé components that function together to delprducts essential functionality from scope of ASC Top&5:
Softwarewhich describes the accounting for software reveruaegnition. ASU 2009-14 is effective on a prospecbasis for the Comparg/fiscal year 2011, with earl
adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2D00%n January 1, 2011 and determined that the mthopf this guidance did not have a material effectthe
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011F4jr Value MeasuremeritASU 2011-04"). ASU 201D4 amends existing guidance to achieve convergei
measurement and disclosure between U.S. GAAP daerthhitional Financial Reporting Standards ("IFR83U 201164 is effective for fiscal year 2012. The Compas
currently evaluating the impact that ASU 2011-04 have on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011R%&sentation of Comprehensive Incoft®SU 2011-05"). The provisions of ASU 20105 allow an entity tk
option to present the total of comprehensive ingothe components of net income, and the comporefntgher comprehensive income either in a singletinaous
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepdmatt consecutive statements. In both choicesnéty is required to present each component ofneetme along wit
total net income, each component of otbemprehensive income along with a total for oth@nprehensive income, and a total amount for congmgilie income. Tt
statement(s) are required to be presented withlqmoainence as the other primary financial stateisie ASU No. 201D5 eliminates the option to present
components of other comprehensive income as pattieoftatement of changes in shareholdeggsiity but does not change the items that musteperted in othe
comprehensive income or when an item of other cehmsive income must be reclassified to net inco@ertain provisions of ASU No. 20105 are effective for tt
Company’s interim reporting period beginning onafter December 15, 2011, with retrospective apptoarequired. The adoption of ASU No. 200%-is expected
result in presentation changes to the Compaophsolidated statements of operations and thi#@ddf a consolidated statement of comprehensieeme (loss). TF
adoption of ASU No. 2011-05 will have no impactthe Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
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Results of Operations
Net Revenue

Net revenue for the year ended December 31, 2051%&4 million, compared to $440,000 for the yaadesl December 31, 2010. Our net revenue for the
ended December 31, 2011 included $5.8 million ftechnology license fees and $287,000 in nexurring engineering services related to our teaen solution fi
various customers. Under the terms of one of outracots entered into in 2010, the customer prefai@ million of technology licenses prior to shipmef its firs
product. The $3.0 million prpayment was included in deferred revenue as of lbee 31, 2010 and will be amortized to revenuerdss @are sold. For the year en
December 31, 2011, $1.5 million in license feeatesl to products shipped in 2011 have been recegig revenue, and as of December 31, 2011, $lliGrmemains ii
deferred revenue. Ouret revenue for the year ended December 31, 20$05440,000 and includes $387,000 in fees for erging design services, $50,000 for the
of components, and $3,000 from technology licerss felated to our touchscreen solution for outocusrs.

As of December 31, 2011, we had twelve signed t@olgy license agreements with global OEMs. Six of customers are currently shipping products an
anticipate others will initiate product shipmensstaey complete their final product development arahufacturing cycle throughout 2012. Sony Corponais currentl
shipping the “Sony Reader Wi-Fi PRS-T1” model. Kedhc. began shipping the “Jin Yong e-Readerlimited quantities to the Chinese market in Deber 2010 bt
ceased shipments in the first quarter of 2011. Kislgo is currently shipping the “Kobo eReader Tdydbarnes & Noble Inc. is currently shippingte Simple Touc
Reader” Nook e-Reader; Amazon is currently shippirgKindle Touch and Kindle Touch 3G e-Readers; @nyx began shipping Reader products in December 2(
All of these products incorporate Neonode’s zFotoach technology.

In the first quarter of 2012, we signed technoltiggnse agreements with four new customers in tA8 Grablet PC, printing and office equipment, anegin¢
markets. In addition, we are currently developingt@type products and are engaged in product eagirgedesign discussions with numerous global OkMs are in th
process of qualifying our touchscreen technologyif@orporation in various products such as primgerducts, GPS devices,Readers, Tablet PCs, touch panels
automobiles, household appliances, mobile phonégames and toys. The development and produciseelgecle for these products typically takes sigighteen month

Current and future drivers of the touchscreen ntar@ude mobile phones, printers, automotive, letwadd appliances, tablet PCsReaders, navigation scree
etc. The proliferation and mass market acceptance afgereens have prompted new applications and osexisting and new offerings, thus making the piair
and utilization of these modules one of the fasgestwing tech segments. The typical sales cycharie to eighteen months with new customers whilstieg custome
lead times are typically six to nine months. Durthg initial cycle, there are three phases: evednatlesign, and commercialization. In the evatutmphase, prospe:
validate the Neonode technology using a Neonodkiatian kit and may produce short runs of prototppeducts. During the design phase, true produe¢ldpment an
solution definition begins. This phase tends totbe longest and delays typically occur which magyeed the term of the overall cycle. In the finahase
commercialization, the customer enters into futidaurction mode, ships products to the market anchbid® earns its license revenue.

Gross Margin

Gross margin was $5.2 million and $172,000 for ykars ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respgct®el cost of revenues includes the direct co
production of the components plus the costs of Gowmgmployed engineering personnel plus engineedngultants to complete the engineering desigiracin
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Product Research and Development

Product research and development (R&D) expensesdoh of the years ended December 31, 2011 and\26d® $1.9 million. R&D costs mainly consist
personnel related costs in addition to some exteoresultancy costs such as testing, certifying medsurements.

We continue to pursue and expand R&D expenditurethe development of our touchscreen and othentdobies. We have a development roadmap bas
our touchscreen and other technologies. As of Dbeeer81, 2011, our R&D department had eighteentiiole employees compared to eight fiithe employees and o
part-time consultant at December 31, 2010.

Sales and Marketing

Sales and marketing expenses for the year endedniber 31, 2011 were $1.8 million, compared to $3@®,for the year ended December 31, 2010.
increase in 2011 as compared to 2010 is primaeited to an increase in sales personnel, marketade shows and travel expenses. As of Decenthet® 1, our sal
and marketing department has nine full-time empsyeompared to three employees at December 3@, 201

Our sales activities focus primarily on OEM custesneho will integrate our touchscreen technology itheir products. Our OEM customers will then seit
market their products incorporating our technolt@their customers.

General and Administrative

General and administrative (G&A) expenses for tearyended December 31, 2011 were $3.5 million, esetpto $3.6 million for the year ended Decembe
2010. This slight decrease in 2011 as compare®16 & primarily related to a decrease in wash fair value of warrants issued to employeeswtha partially offset k
an increase in patent related legal fees and fiahognsultant costs.

As of December 31, 2011 and 2010, we had three ;mapt and one patithe consultant in our G&A department fulfilling magement and account
responsibilities.

Amortization of Fair Value of Stock Issued to Retat Parties for Purchase of Neonode Technologies AB

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share BgehAgreement with Neonode Technologies AB andstbekholders of Neonode Technologies AB:
Jima SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (theethode Technologies AB Stockholdergiiirsuant to which we agreed to acquire all of #sied and outstandi
shares of Neonode Technologies AB in exchangehtorssuance of 19,800 shares of the Compa8gries A Preferred stock. Pursuant to the tefrtfse Share Exchan
Agreement, upon the closing of the transaction, Méee Technologies AB became a wholly owned subyidid the Company. The Neonode Technologies
Stockholders are or were employees of us and/ond#®AB, and as such were related parties.

The fair value of the conversion feature of theB09, shares of Series A Preferred shares issudtbtoetated parties to acquire Neonode Technologieshal
were converted into a total of 9,516,447 sharesuofcommon stock was $9.5 million based on ourksfwice on March 31, 2009, the date our sharehsldpproved tt
increased conversion ratio. Because this tramsagtas essentially the issuance of shares to kgjogees for their continued service to enhanceGbmpany, the $9
million revised fair value of the common stock Heeen amortized to compensation expense at theof&&.6 million per quarter for six quarters beghmnJanuary :
2009. The amortization of the $9.5 million in compation expense related the value of the stocleissw the related parties to acquire Neonode Tdopies AB wa
completed on June 30, 2010. For the year endedniizsre31, 2010, $3.2 million has been recorded agpensation expense in our consolidated statemeygerhtions.
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Interest and Other Expense

Interest expense for the year ended December 31, ®@s $288,000, compared to $179,000 for the geded December 31, 2010. The increase is primaui
to an increase in the debt outstanding from $2IBomiat December 31, 2010 to $4.2 million for tiejority of the year ended December 31, 2011.

Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gairend Losses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythe applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdftee translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dolles
performed for balance sheet accounts using cuenasitange rates in effect at the balance sheetadatéor income statement accounts using a weightecage exchan
rate during the period. Gains or losses resultingftranslation are included as a separate comparfieaccumulated other comprehensive loss. Gairlesses resultir
from foreign currency transactions are includegjémeral and administrative expenses in the accoymmaiconsolidated statements of operations and %446000 an
$23,000 during the years ended December 31, 204 2@10, respectively. Foreign currency translagams were $76,000 and $33,000 during the yearsceBaécembt
31, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Non-Cash Items Related to Debt Discounts and DederFinancing Fees and the Valuation of Conversiore&tures and Warrants

Non-cash items related to debt discounts and defeimedding fees and the valuation of conversion fest@nd warrants for the year ended December 31
was $14.7 million, compared to $20.0 million foethear ended December 31, 2010. The amount inutrent year includes $8.6 million in net changedeérivative
liabilities, $4.3 million of debt discount and dessuance cost amortization, $1.5 million in excas®unt of debt discount recognized as interestresg associated w
derivatives, and $0.4 million associated with the ¥alue of shares issued for bonus interestedl&d the automatic conversion of the Senior CdiblerSecured Notes
2011. The amount in the prior year includes $16iBam in net change in derivative liabilities, $2million of debt discount and debt issuance casvréization, and $1
million in excess amount of debt discount recogthiae interest expense associated with derivatives.

Loss on extinguishment of debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year endedebnber 31, 2010 of $2.4 million was primarily teeult of the warrant repricing and debt extensiioancing
transaction that was consummated in the prior y@aring September and October 2010, all of the drslabf the convertible notes and the holders ofstbek purchas
warrants issued in the 2009 and 2010 Senior Sec@oedertible Debt Financing Transactions agreeextend the maturity date of their convertible diebin Decembe
31, 2010 to June 30, 2011. In addition, holder2,866,857 stock purchase warrants also agreedeiwieg their previously granted thrgear warrants for a discoun
exercise price. In accordance with relevant acéngrguidance, the transaction qualified for delitrguishment accounting.

Income Taxes

Our effective tax rate was 0% in the year endedebxer 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively. We recovdédation allowances in 2011 and 2010 for defete
assets related to net operating losses due tanttertainty of realization.

Net Loss

As a result of the factors discussed above, werdecba net loss of $17.1 million for the year enBedember 31, 2011, compared to a net loss of $8illién in
the comparable period in 2010.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not have any transactions, arrangementsther oelationships with unconsolidated entitiest tha reasonably likely to affect our liquidity oapita
resources other than the operating leases notadatite have no special purpose or limited purposiéies that provide ofbalance sheet financing, liquidity, or marke

credit risk support; or engage in leasing, hedgiegearch and development services, or otheraorkitips that expose us to liability that is noteeted on the face of t
financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our liquidity is dependent on many factors, inchglisales volume, operating profit and the efficien€ asset use and turnover. Our future liquidityl e
affected by, among other things:

e actual versus anticipated licensing of our tetbgy;

« our actual versus anticipated operating expel

 the timing of our OEM customer product shipme

« the timing of payment for our technology licergsamgreements
» our actual versus anticipated gross profit mai

» our ability to raise additional capital, if nesagy; anc

 our ability to secure credit facilities, if nesasy.

We have six current active customers for our toaen technology and an additional nine custométts signed license agreements currently in the gl
development stage. In most circumstances, ourttarggomers will have to successfully integrate ahnology into their products and then sell thpsmlucts to the
customers before we will receive any cash fromteahnology license agreements.

Our cash is subject to interest rate risk. We inypesnarily on a shorterm basis. Our financial instrument holdings at@&aber 31, 2011 were analyzel
determine their sensitivity to interest rate chandde fair values of these instruments were deteminby net present values. In our sensitivity gsia) the same change
interest rate was used for all maturities and #ileofactors were held constant. If interest rateseased by 10%, the expected effect on net lelssed to our financi
instruments would be immaterial. The functionalreocy of our foreign subsidiary is the applicafdeal currency, the Swedish Krona, and is subjeforeign currenc
exchange rate risk. Any increase or decrease iextleange rate of the U.S. Dollar compared to thedish Krona will impact Neonode’s future operatiegults.

At December 31, 2011, we had cash of $12.9 millagcompared to $911,000 at December 31, 2016elgdar ended December 31, 2011, $3.5 million sf
was used in operating activities, primarily assuteof our net loss increased by the following fwash items (in thousands):

Depreciation and amortizatic $ 26
Stoclk-based compensation expel 550
Debt discounts and deferred financing fees anddheation of conversion features and warrants 14,73¢
Total adjustments to reconcile net loss to nel ee®d in operating activities $ 15,311

Working capital (current assets less current lisd) was $13.6 million at December 31, 2011, carefd to an adjusted working capital (current adsstscurrer
liabilities not including non-cash liabilities rédal to warrants and embedded derivatives) defiB8® million at December 31, 2010.

In the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, urehgsed $114,000 and $14,000, respectively ofdfixesets, consisting primarily of computers
engineering equipment.

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we redqivaeceeds from a private placement of convertilites totaling $1.6 million and converted $163,0€
accounts payable to convertible debt that were eded, at the holdes’option, into 3,521,423 shares of our common s#ick conversion price of $0.50 per share.
convertible note holders had the right to have dbeversion price adjusted to equal the lower stoige if we issued common stock or convertible sadé a lowe
conversion price than $0.50 during the period thatnotes were outstanding. These convertible rtbgswere due on December 31, 2010 were extendtidiune 3C
2011and bore an annual interest rate of 7%, payablkine 30 and December 31 of each year thabtinetible notes were outstanding. In addition,isseied 1,760,7:
three year warrants to the convertible note holdetts an exercise price of $1.00 per share (seavijel
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During March and April 2011, we received an aggtegd $4.2 million in cash proceeds related toiagte placement of convertible notes, bearing egent
rate of seven percent (7%) per annum, that wasistdne to mature on March 1, 2014, and that was exitle at the holdes’ option into 1,691,320 shares of our com
stock at a conversion price of $2.50 per share.|@ée would automatically convert into shares of cemmon stock in the event that on or before tla@ Idue date eith
(a) the Companyg common stock traded at a price per share of & 28gher for five (5) consecutive trading days(lg) the Company consummated a financing it
amount of at least $5 million. In the event the toan principal and accrued interest was notideimathe Company by the due date, and the Invéwtdrnot previous
converted the loan, the investor's sole remedysfarth nonpayment was the payment of additional annual isteaé a rate of 10% per year. The accrued intavas
payable in stock, using the $2.50 conversion paceash, at the holder’s option, on Septembem@0ecember 31 of each year.

In March 2011, the Company entered into a warrgntement with investors who participated in the @any’s 2009 and 2010 financing transactions and
had been issued common stock purchase warrantexstitise prices of $0.50 per share, $1.00 peeshad $1.38 per share (the “2009 and 2010 Wat)aftsrsuant t
the warrant agreement, each warrant holder whacesest some or all of its outstanding 2009 and 20WEdrants at the applicable exercise price ($0.5Gpare, $1.00 p
share, and/or $1.38 per share), received a nunibdawh 2011 Warrants equal to fifty percent (5086jhe number of 2009 and 2010 Warrants exercigeslibh warrar
holder. The warrant holders exercised an aggrenfat83,426 outstanding 2009 and 2010 Warrantsafoaggregate investment of $515,000 and receiv@@ a6 share
of common stock and 246,713 new fiyear common stock purchase warrants, with an eseefmiice of $3.13 per share. The March 2011 Wesnanay be exercised
cash payment or through cashless exercise by thensier of warrant shares having a value equdld@xercise price of the portion of the warrantadpexercised.

On December 13, 2011, the Company sold 3,000,0@6eshof common stock of the Company, par value(0fer share, in a public offering pursuant
Registration Statement on FormBS-The net proceeds to the Company from this iniflewas $11.2 million, after deducting the undeting discount but before deduct
other estimated offering expenses of approximaély million payable by the Company.

In the future, we may require sources of capitaddition to cash on hand to continue operatiomkstarimplement our strategy. If our operations db lmecom
cash flow positive, we may be forced to seek crigtht facilities from financial institutions, addihal private equity investment or debt arrangemeXb assurances can
given that we will be successful in obtaining saditional financing on reasonable terms, or atlhfidequate funds are not available on acceptabies, or at all, w
may be unable to adequately fund our business pladst could have a negative effect on our businessults of operations and financial conditionaddition, if fund
are available, the issuance of equity securitiesegurities convertible into equity could dilute thalue of shares of our common stock and causeéiket price to fal
and the issuance of debt securities could impaseatve covenants that could impair our abililyengage in certain business transactions.

ITEM7A.  QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Not applicable
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

Board of Directors and Stockholders
Neonode Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Neonode Inc. (a Delaware corporatiod)subsidiary (the “Company&s of December 31, 20
and 2010, and the related consolidated statemémigenations, stockholders’ equity (deficit) andmmehensive loss, and cash flows for each of tlaesyim the twoyeal
period ended December 31, 2011. These consolidiat@utial statements are the responsibility of @empanys management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman
on these consolidated financial statements basedioaudits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversightuBio(United States). Those standards require thaplar
and perform the audits to obtain reasonable asseramout whether the consolidated financial statésnzre free of material misstatement. The Compsnypt required t
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audisohiernal control over financial reporting. Owdis included consideration of internal controéofinancial reportin
as a basis for designing audit procedures thaappeopriate in the circumstances, but not for theppse of expressing an opinion on the effectivereéthe Company’
internal control over financial reporting. Accordip, we express no such opinion. An audit alsoudek examining, on a test basis, evidence suppdtienamounts al
disclosures in the consolidated financial statesielwt audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples used and significant estimates made Agagement, as w
as evaluating the overall financial statement prieg®n. We believe that our audits provide a reabée basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaaeeferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position of Neonode lked subsidiary
December 31, 2011 and 2010, and the results af diperrations and their cash flows for each of thary in the twgrear period ended December 31, 2011, in confo
with accounting principles generally accepted i tmited States of America.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLP

Costa Mesa, California
March 30, 2012
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NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

As of As of
December 31 December 31
2011 2010
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash $ 12,94 $ 911
Accounts receivabl 3,34t 151
Debt issuance costs, r - 4
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 234 161
Total current asse 16,51¢ 1,227
Property and equipment, net 10¢ 24
Total assets $ 16,627 $ 1,251
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 47  $ 442
Accrued expense 601 642
Deferred revenu 1,90¢ 54C
Convertible debt, net of discour -- 2,77z
Embedded derivatives of convertible debt and-avis -- 6,71¢
Total current liabilities 2,95¢ 11,11
Total liabilities 2,95¢ 11,11¢
Commitments and contingencies (Note
Stockholders' equity (deficit
Series A Preferred stock, 444,541 shares authowitbdpar value of $0.001 per sha
83 and 166 shares issued and outstar
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectivelyth@revent of dissolutioi
each share of Series A Preferred stock has alitjon preference equal
par value of $0.001 over the shares of commack}y -- --
Series B Preferred stock, 54,425 shares authowitbdoar
value of $0.001; 114 and 141 she
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2011 at@l 28€spectively
(In the event of dissolution, each share of SaBi€seferred stock has
liguidation preference equal to par value of $Q.0ver the shares
common stock -- --
Common stock, 70,000,000 and 848,000,000 sharbsrized a
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively, with/pare of
$0.001; 32,778,993 and 21,816,602 shares issuk
outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respbc 33 22
Additional paic-in capital 142,95! 102,36(
Accumulated other comprehensive income (li 13 (63)
Accumulated deficit (129,32} (112,18
Total stockholders' equity (deficit) 13,67 (9,864
Total liabilities and stockholders' equitieficit) $ 16,627 $ 1,251

The accompanying notes are an integral part oethessolidated financial statements.
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NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Year endec
December 31
2011 2010
Net revenue $ 6,067 $ 44C
Cost of revenues 90¢ 26¢
Gross margin 5,15¢ 172
Operating expense
Product research and developm 1,85¢ 1,87:
Sales and marketir 1,812 56€
General and administratiy 3,63t 3,58¢
Amortization of fair value of stock issuedrelated parties for purchase
Neonode Technologies AB (formerly AB Cypressen) -- 3,16¢
Total operating expenses 7,20:% 9,19t
Operating loss (2,044) (9,027

Other expense
Interest and other expen (28¢) a9

Loss on extinguishment of de (2,416
Non-cash items related to debt discounts deferred financing fee

and the valuation of conversion features andavas (14,73%) (19,967
Total other expense (15,027%) (22,55%)
Loss before provision for income tax (17,067 (31,58)
Provision for income taxes 78 45
Net loss $ (17,145 $ (31,626)
Loss per common shar
Basic and diluted loss per share $ (0.69 $ (1.79)
Basic and diluted — weighted average shares usgerishare computations 26,78¢ 18,29:

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY (DE FICIT) AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(Amounts in thousands)

Series A Series B
Common Preferred Series A Preferred Series B Accumulated
stock Common Additional  stock Preferred stock Preferred other Total Other
shares  stock paid-in- shares stock shares stock comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’equity comprehensiv
issued amount capital issued amount issued amount income (loss) deficit (deficit) loss

Balances,
January 1,
2010 16,65¢ $ 17 $ 74,28¢ 33 - 1% -$ 96) $ (80,559) $ (6,34%)

Employee stocl

option and

warrant

compensation

expense - - 2,262 - - - - - - 2,26:

Amortization of

fair value of

stock issued to

related parties

for purchase of

Neonode

Technologies

AB (formerly

AB Cypressen - - 3,16¢ - - - - - - 3,16¢

Reclassificatior

of derivative

liabilities to

additional paid-

in capital - - 19,28¢ - - - - - - 19,28¢

Common stock
issued to settle
lawsuit 49¢ - 647 - - - - - . 647

Exchange of

Series A

Preferred Stocl

for common

stock 1,57 2 ()] (©) - - - - - -

Exchange of

Series B

Preferred Stocl

for common

stock 73 - - - - (@) - - - -

Proceeds for
issuance of
warrants - - 49 o - - - - R 49

Common stock

issued upon

conversion of

debt including

beneficial

conversion

feature amount 18¢ - 17¢ - - - - - - 17¢

Common stock
issued to
brokers 57 - 65 - - - - - - 65

Common stock

issued to

investors in the

2010 warrant

repricing

financing

transactior 2,767 3 2,41¢ - - - - - - 2,421

Foreign

currency

translation

adjustmen - - - - - - - g4 - 33 33



Net loss

Comprehensive
loss

Balances,
December 31,
2010

Stock option
and warrant
compensation
expense to
employees and
vendors

Common stock
upon exercise (
warrants

Proceeds from
sale of commot
stock, net of
offering costs

Reclassificatior
of derivative
liabilities to
additional paid-
in capital

Fair value of
warrants issuec
in connection
with issuance c
2011 Senior
Secured
Convertible
Debt

Exchange of
Series A
Preferred Stocl
for common
stock

Exchange of
Series B
Preferred Stocl
for common
stock

Common stock
issued upon
conversion of
outstanding
convertible deb
and accrued ar
bonus interes

Common stock
issued for
settlement of
accrued
expense:

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustmen

Net loss

Comprehensive
loss

Balances,
December 31,
2011

- - - - - (31,626 (31,6260 $ (31,626

(31,599
21,81; 22 102,36( - (63) (112,18) (9,869
- - 55C - - - 55C
542 1 514 - - - 51E
3,00( 3 10,78 - - - 10,78
- - 20,07 - - - 20,07t
- - 937 - - - 937
40 - - - - - -
6 - - - - - -
7,31¢ 7 7,61F - - - 7,62:
60 - 12¢ - - - 12¢

- - - - 76 - 76 76

i ) . - - (17,149 (17,149 $ (17,149

- - - - - - - $ (17,069
3277¢$ 33 $ 142,95 $ $ -3 13 $  (129,320% 13,67

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statemer
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NEONODE INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net ¢
used in operating activitie
Stock-based compensation expense to employees and ve
Fair value of common stock issued in settleme
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on extinguishment of dek
Debt discounts and deferred financing fees andaheation
of conversion features and warra
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other current as:
Accounts payable and accrued expel
Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchase of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of convertible ¢
Repayment of convertible del
Proceeds from exercise of warra
Proceeds from issuance of common st
warrant repricing and preferred stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rates on ca

Net increase in cas
Cash at beginning of year
Cash at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Interest paid in cas
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash transactions

Exchange of preferred stock for common stc

Reclassification of derivative liabilities to addital paic-
in-capital upon conversion of debt and exercise ofavas

Value of shares of common stock and warrants istu
brokers in connection with financing, recorded abt
issuance costs and debt discol

Debt issuance costs recorded as part of 2011 fingh@nsactior

Debt discount recorded as part of convertible fiabhcing
transactions, including warrants issued in finag¢nansaction

Accounts payable converted in 2010 convertible défering

Accrued expenses settled with shares of commok

Conversion of debt and accrued interest to shdresromon stock

Debt issuance costs recorded in connection of
extinguishment transactior

Reduction of derivative liabilities upon conversimidebt anc
exercise of warrant

Years ended Decemb31,

2011
$ 17,149 $ (31,626
55¢ 5,43(

- 647

26 11

- 2,41¢

14,73 19,96:

(3,229 (146)

(79 (16)

322 (414

1, 36€ 54(

(3,457 (3,19

(114) (14)

(114) (14)

4,22¢ 1,597

(25 =

51E 49

10,787 2,421

15, 50¢ 4,067

91 25

12,02 882

911 28

$ 12,940 $ 911
$ 27 $ 18C
$ ~- % 80€
$ 20,078 $ 19,28¢
$ - $ 12¢
$ 3B $ --
$ 4226 $ 1,761
$ - $ 162
$ 12 $ -
$ 722 $ 17¢
$ 20,07¢ $ 4,33¢
$ - $ 8

The accompanying notes are an integral part okthessolidated financial statements.
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NEONODE INC.
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Nature of the business and operations
Background and Organization

Neonode Inc. was incorporated in the State of Datavin 1997 as the parent of Neonode AB, a comfaunyded in February 2004 and incorporated in Swe@g
December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share Exchaggement with AB Cypressen nr 9683 (renamed Nederkechnologies AB), a Swedish engineering compang
Neonode Technologies AB became our wholly ownedsisiidry. Together, Neonode Inc. and Neonode Tdogms AB are known a“we,” “us,” “our”, or the
“Company.”

On December 9, 2008, our former wholly owned subsyd Neonode AB, filed for liquidation under thev&dish bankruptcy laws. Effective with Neonode AB’
bankruptcy filing on December 9, 2008, Neonode isno longer in the mobile phone business andether no known financial obligations related todabeounts payak
or other debts of Neonode AB for which NeonodeHas responsibility.

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share Bgehagreement with Neonode Technologies AB andstbekholders of Neonode Technologies AB: Iwo .
SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (the “NeorcBechnologies AB Stockholdersfjursuant to which we agreed to acquire all of #seéd and outstanding shi
of Neonode Technologies AB in exchange for thedsse of 19,800 shares of Neonode Inc Series A iPeefestock. Pursuant to the terms of the Shareh&hg
Agreement, upon the closing of the transaction, Méde Technologies AB became a wholly owned subsgidid the Company. The Neonode Technologies
Stockholders are or were employees of us and/ombdim AB, and as such are related parties. Neonedariblogies AB did not have any operations in 200&
acquisition of Neonode Technologies AB by us ditlquealify as a business combination but rather egeryer of entities under common control; accorgitige acquire
assets of Neonode Technologies AB are recorddeeatttistorical cost basis of $12,000.

Neonode Technologies AB was formed on December2@98 following the bankruptcy filing on December 2008 of Neonode AB. Based on Swedish
considerations, we determined that it would be nedfieient to form a new company which would be @iced by Neonode Inc. rather than tohiee each of the form
employees of Neonode AB on an individual basisttHermore, we determined that based on the impoetam the Company of retaining the technology ansires
expertise of the beneficial owners of Neonode Teldgies AB and of ensuring our ability to continwedevelop our technology, in exchange for comptet@ership ¢
Neonode Technologies AB, we were prepared to ifstiee Neonode Technologies AB Stockholders sham®senting approximately 49.5% of the Compangweéler
since we did not have a sufficient number of uréslsshares of common stock at that time to issueeshat common stock representing 49.5% of the Comypa well a
enter into the other Refinancing Agreements, weddekcthat in exchange for all of the shares of NelenTechnologies AB we would issue shares of SériBseferre
stock at a ratio such that assuming an increatiesilCompanyg authorized share capital and an increase indheetsion rate to 480.63 shares of common stockdol
shares of Series A Preferred stock, the Neonodérbdogies AB Stockholders would own in the aggregat amount of shares equal to approximately 496%e
Company after completion of our refinancing anditzpaising activities. Nevertheless, pursuantite Share Exchange Agreement, we did not guardhgesither th
Companys authorized share capital would be increased atrttte conversion rate would be increased to 486t&8es of common stock for each shares of Sel
Preferred stock (See Note 9).

The fair value of the Series A Preferred Stock eslsto the Neonode Technologies AB Stockholdersxitegs of the $12,000 cash balance is accounteds
compensation. Pursuant to the Share Exchange egreie the beneficial owners of the Neonode TeclgietoAB Stockholders agreed to remain employedgeohod:
Technologies AB for a period of 18 months. In &ddi, each of the beneficial owners of the Neonddehnologies AB Stockholders signed a repurchasseagent wit
the Company granting the Company a lapsing repsechight to purchase the Series A Preferred stettkliy such Neonode Technologies AB Stockholdéhénevent th
beneficial owners employment with Neonode Technologies AB is teated other than for cause prior to the expiratibd® months from December 29, 2008. E
month, 1/18 of the Series A Preferred shares heltidd Neonode Technologies AB Stockholders wasseleé from the lapsing repurchase right. Thusfainevalue of th
common stock (as converted from Series A Prefe@tedk during 2009 was $9.5 million) issued under ®fnare Exchange Agreement was amortized on glstiamie
basis to compensation expense over the 18-montimggeeriod that began on January 1, 2009.

On March 25, 2011, we filed a Certificate of Amerahof our Amended and Restated Certificate of ipotion affecting a reverse stock split of thenpanys
issued and outstanding shares of common stock i&fierped stock at a ratio of twenty-five-to-onee(ttReverse Split”).The Certificate of Amendment provided that €
twenty-five (25) outstanding shares of the Corgorés common stock, par value $0.001 per share, wasaeged and combined, automatically, without furthetion
into one (1) share of common stock, and each twiwy(25) outstanding shares of the Corporatiopteferred stock, par value $0.001 per share,exebanged ar
combined, automatically, without further actiortoimne (1) share of preferred stock. The Reverdie&gs declared effective on March 28, 2011 ansl een reflected
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Operations

Neonode Inc, licenses optical touch solutions fandheld and small to midsized consumer and indligiectronic devices. We license our touchscreehrtology t
Original Equipment Manufacturers (“OEMs”) and Onigi Design Manufacturers (“ODMsiyho imbed our touch technology into electronic desithat they develop
sell. The cornerstone of our solution is our inrtmeaoptical touch, zForce®yhich can be applied on any flat surface such gsitiCrystal Displays (LCD), Electror
Paper Displays (EPD) or as a Mouse Pad, and carcbgporated into all types of devices, enablingctodetection for any type of object (finger, pglove or a brush).
addition the zForce touch solution has a minimalteveight and building height, thus enabling geeandustrial design flexibility. Since nothinglayered on top of tt
display, the zForce solution provides 100% optiisparency, which improves image quality, redggae, and improves battery life.

Our technology licensing model allows us to focustioe development of solutions for muthkch enabled screens, and thus we do not haventerad with th
financial and logistical burden of manufacturingqucts, which is handled by our ODM/OEM clients. i¢ense the right to use zForce and software whagether wit
standard components from partners, creates a ctengbéical touchscreen solution. The zForce ntoltieh product is our latest release and is cuyrdrging integrate
into products such as mobile phones, e-Readersehold appliances, printers and office equipmeRS@evices, automobile consoles, games and tog<ahiet PCs.
Our licensing model provides the added benefitllofaang us to grow revenues without the need oféasing costs at anywhere near the same rate posupe revent
growth.

Liquidity

Our operations are subject to certain risks aneéamties frequently encountered by companiebéneiarly stages of operations. Such risks and taieges include
but are not limited to, technical and quality peshk in new products, ability to raise additionalds, credit risks and costs for developing new petal Our ability t
generate revenues in the future will depend subatlnon our ability to enter into contracts witistomers and to raise additional funds through debquity financing:
During 2011, we raised approximately $15.5 millthrough debt and equity offerings (see Notes 69@nd/Ne believe we have sufficient cash to opefi@tehe remainde
of 2012, and thereafter expect to receive sufftodash from customer license agreements curremijaice to operate for at least the next twelvethmn
2. Summary of significant accounting policies

Principles of Consolidation

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegsts is in conformity with accounting principlesngrally accepted in the United States of AmeriGAAP”) anc
include the accounts of Neonode Inc. and its whollyned Swedish subsidiary Neonode Technologies AB.intercompany accounts and transactions haver
eliminated in consolidation.

Reclassification

Certain amounts in the 2010 financial statemenée h@en reclassified to conform to the current yeasentation.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith GAAP requires making estimates and assuwngtithat affect, at the date of the financial stetets, th
reported amounts of assets and liabilities, dise®f contingent assets and liabilities and thpred amounts of revenue and expenses. Actudtsesiuld differ fron
these estimates. Significant estimates includeabinhot limited to, collectibility of accounts e#eables, recoverability of lonlived assets, the valuation allowance rel
to our deferred tax assets, the fair value of d¢xre liabilities, and the fair value of securitisch as options and warrants issued for sbhaded compensation anc
certain financing transactions.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We have not had any liquid investments other thammal cash deposits with bank institutions to d#tin the future the Company purchases cash etgntg thi
Company will consider all highly liquid investmentith original maturities of three months of leese cash equivalents.
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Concentration of Cash Balance Risks

Cash balances are maintained at various bank®ib/18. and Sweden. At times, deposits held witarfaial institutions in the United States of Amenmnay excee
the amount of insurance provided by the FederabBiepnsurance Corporation (“FDIC"hich provides basic deposit coverage with limipsta $250,000 per owner.
addition to the basic insurance deposit coverdgeFDIC is providing temporary unlimited coverage fioninterest bearing transaction accounts through Dbeeral
2012. The Swedish government provides insurancerage up to 100,000 euro per customer and covessiie in all types of accounts. As of DecemberZ1, th:
Company has approximately $1.2 million in excesmsfirance limits.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accts

Our accounts receivable are stated at net readizadlie. Our policy is to maintain allowances fstirated losses resulting from the inability of customers to ma
required payments. Credit limits are establisheduph a process of reviewing the financial histand stability of each customer. Where appropriate obtain cred
rating reports and financial statements of theamest when determining or modifying its credit limitWe regularly evaluate the collectibility of omade receivab
balances based on a combination of factors. Wheustomers account balance becomes past due, we initiakegdia with the customer to determine the causi.i$
determined that the customer will be unable to nitsdinancial obligation, such as in the case daakruptcy filing, deterioration in the custonsdperating results
financial position or other material events impagtits business, we record a specific allowanaedace the related receivable to the amount weatxpeecover. Shou
all efforts fail to recover the related receivables will write-off the account. We also record an allowance fbcastomers based on certain other factors inctydie
length of time the receivables are past due artdrigal collection experience with customers. Apwance for doubtful accounts was not necessaBeagember 31, 20:
and 2010.

Debt issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs represent costs incurred inection with the issuance of the convertible n@agable. Debt issuance costs are amortized ovetethe of th
financing instrument on a straight-line basis, vaég@proximates the effective interest method.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, netaafraulated depreciation and amortization. Deprisisind amortization are computed using the sttdigh metho
based upon estimated useful lives of the asseggngfrom three to five years as follows:

Estimated useful live

Computer equipmer 3 years
Furniture and fixture 5 years

Equipment purchased under capital leases is aradrtim a straight-line basis over the estimatecduliéf of the asset or term of the lease, whichésehorter.

Upon retirement or sale of property and equipmeost and accumulated depreciation and amortizatierremoved from the accounts and any gains oedoag
reflected in the consolidated statement of opemnatiMaintenance and repairs are charged to expanseurred.

Long-Lived Assets

We assess any impairment by estimating the futasé flow from the associated asset in accordantterelievant accounting guidance. If the estimatediscounte
future cash flow related to these assets decremdbe useful life is shorter than originally estited, we may incur charges for impairment of thessets. The impairme
is based on the estimated discounted cash floncaded with the asset. At December 31, 2011, viies®ethere is no impairment of our lofiged assets. There can be
assurance, however, that market conditions willomainge or sufficient commercial demand for oudpmts and services will materialize, which coulsulein impairmer
of long-lived assets in the future.
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Foreign Currency Translation and Transaction Gairend Losses

The functional currency of our foreign subsidiasythie applicable local currency, the Swedish Krdtne translation from Swedish Krona to U.S. Dolliarperforme
for balance sheet accounts using current exchatge in effect at the balance sheet date and ¢onmie statement accounts using a weighted averagarege rate durir
the period. Gains or losses resulting from trarmtatire included as a separate component of acetecubther comprehensive income (loss) in the apeoging
consolidated statements of stockholdeguity (deficit) and comprehensive loss. Gainsogsés resulting from foreign currency transactamesincluded in general a
administrative expenses in the accompanying coesteldl statements of operations and were $44,00628000 during the years ended December 31, 26d 2610
respectively. Foreign currency translation gainsew76,000 and $33,000 during the years ended Deere®l, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Liabilities for Warrants and Embedded Derivatives

We do not enter into derivative contracts for psgmof risk management or speculation. Howevem time to time, we enter into contracts that aeaonsidere
derivative financial instruments in their entirdtyt that include embedded derivative features, sscbonversion features that contain diltition rights. Such embedd
derivatives are assessed at inception of the atrérad every reporting period, depending on thearacteristics, and are accounted for as sepaesieative financie
instruments pursuant to accounting guidance, ihseimbedded conversion features, if freestandingildvaneet the classification of a liability. Accourg guidanc
requires that we analyze all material contractsa@atdrmine whether or not they contain embeddegatares. Any such embedded conversion featuresntiegt the aboy
criteria are then bifurcated from their host cocitrand recorded on the consolidated balance shéair ¥alue and the changes in the fair valuehefse derivatives &
recorded each period in the consolidated statenoémijgerations as an increase or decrease to rsineterges.

Similarly, if warrants meet the criteria in accandea with accounting guidance to be classified alsillties, then the fair value of the warrants ezeorded on tt
consolidated balance sheet at their fair valued,ay changes in such fair values are recorded paxibd in the consolidated statements of operatasan increase
decrease to non-cash charges.

Concentration of Credit and Business Risks

In the short term, we anticipate that we will degpem a limited number of customers for substantiall of our future revenue. Failure to anticipaterespon
adequately to technological developments in ounstiy, changes in customer or supplier requirementhanges in regulatory requirements or industapdards, or al
significant delays in the development or introdoictof products or services, could have a matedeéese effect on our business, operating resuttsash flows.

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2011dweasfrom five customers. Our net revenues forytbar ended December 31, 2011 was earned from
customers. Our customers are located in the UiBgde and Asia. Customers which accounted for 10%hare of our net revenues during the year endeztidber 3
2011 are as follows:

» Amazon accounted for 40%

» Barnes & Noble accounted for 26%

. Sony Corporation accounted for 21%
» KOBO Inc. accounted for 11%

Our accounts receivable as of December 31, 2010dwadrom six customers. Our revenues for the gaded December 31, 2010 was earned from sevemuers
of whom two customers accounted for approximatdBe®f our net revenues for the year. Customersiwhocounted for 10% or more of our net revenuemguhe yee
ended December 31, 2010 are as follows:

» Sony Corporation accounted for 46%
» Sony Ericsson Mobile Communications AB accounted3®&

Risk and Uncertainties

Our longterm success is dependent on our obtaining suffi@apital to fund our operations and to develop preducts, and on our bringing such products &
worldwide market and obtaining sufficient saleswoé to be profitable. To achieve these objectiwesmay be required to raise additional capitalugiopublic or privat
financings or other arrangements. If additionalitedps needed we cannot be assured that suchdimgs will be available on terms attractive to ifsat all. Sucl
financings may be dilutive to our stockholders amaly contain restrictive covenants.

We are subject to certain risks common to technelmsed companies in similar stages of developmeintcipal risks include risks relating to the unegmty of
market acceptance for our products, a history sgds since inception, our ability to remain contpvetin response to new technologies, the costiefend, as well as ris
of losing patents and intellectual property riglatgeliance on a limited number of suppliers, theantainty of demand for our products in certairrkats, our ability t
manage growth effectively, our dependence on keyibees of our management and development teaminoitied experience in conducting operations inteamally, anc
our ability to obtain adequate capital to fund fetoperations.
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We are exposed to a number of economic and inddesttprs that could result in portions of our teslogy becoming obsolete or not gaining market atzoege
These factors include, but are not limited to, tetbgical changes in our markets, our ability toetnehanging customer requirements, competitivespres in produc
and prices, and the ability of our customers to ufcture and sell their products that incorporatetechnology.

A significant portion of our business is conductedurrencies other than the U.S. dollar (the auyein which our consolidated financial statemearts reported
primarily the Swedish Krona and, to a lesser extdr@ Euro. We incur a significant portion of owpenses in Swedish Krona, including a significaoitipn of ou
product development expense and a substantiabpasfiour general and administrative expenses. vesat, appreciation of the value of the Swedisbri& relative to tt
other currencies, particularly the U.S. dollar, ldoadversely affect operating results. We do notemtly undertake hedging transactions to coveraourency exposur
but we may choose to hedge a portion of our cuyremposure in the future as it deems appropriate.

Our future success depends on market acceptarme téchnology as well as our ability to introdunaav versions of our technology to meet the evolviagds of ot
customers.

Revenue Recognition
Engineering Services:

We may sell engineering consulting services tocustomers on a flat rate or hourly rate basis. @®gnize revenue from these services when allefdhowing
conditions are met: (1) evidence existed of anngeanent with the customer, typically consistingagfurchase order or contract; (2) our services wertormed and ris
of loss passed to the customer; (3) we compleienf &he necessary terms of the contract; (4) theunt of revenue to which we were entitled wasdixe determinabli
and (5) we believed it was probable that we wouwddable to collect the amount due from the custoffierthe extent that one or more of these condithuass not bee
satisfied, we defer recognition of revenue. Geherawe recognize revenue as the engineering sesvatipulated under the contact are completed aoepéed by ot
customers.

Licensing Revenues:

We also derive revenue from the licensing of iradiyndeveloped intellectual property (“IP"WWe enter into IP licensing agreements that genepativide licenset
the right to incorporate our IP components in tipeaducts with terms and conditions that vary logtisee. The IP licensing agreements generallydeciunonexclusiy
license for the underlying IP. Fees under theseeagents may include license fees relating to owmiProyalties payable following the sale by oaetisees of produc
incorporating the licensed technology. The liceftseour IP has standalone value and can be usebeblicensee without maintenance and suppatof September 3
2011, Neonode meets all the accounting requirenfentevenue recognition as per unit royalty praduare distributed or licensed by the Company’sausrs. Foi
technology license arrangements that do not regigpeificant modification or customization of thaderlying technology, we recognize new technolaggrise revent
when: (1) we enter into a legally binding arrangetneith a customer for the license of technolo@); dustomer distributes or license the producfsc(@tomer payme
is deemed fixed or determinable and free of coetireges or significant uncertainties; and (4) cditecis reasonably assured.

Prior to September 30, 2011, we deferred the tdolggdicense fee revenue until such time as theavdy period stipulated in the license agreemepired becaus
we did not have sufficient historical experienceestimating potential warranty costs. From Jun202® December 31, 2011, we entered into 12 tecigyolicens
contracts with customers. During that time theeremno warranty related costs incurred for anyarust products after they have been released toanafkuring th
quarter ended September 30, 2011, the Companyrpextban analysis and determined that it had sefftchistorical evidence regarding estimated wayraosts an
therefore began recognizing technology licensedégenues, net of warranty costs, if any, as thelyets incorporating the Neonode technology areibiged or license
by our customers, assuming all other revenue retogreriteria has been met. Our customers refmouss the quantities of products distributed byntedter the end of ti
reporting period stipulated in the contract, gely @0 to 45 days after the end of the month orrtgra The effect of this change in accountingreate was to increase
revenues by $236,000 during the year ended Dece®ih@011, and decrease net loss per share by #&.64e year ended December 31, 2011.

Explicit return rights are not offered to customdrsere have been no returns through December(31,.2

Hardware Products:

We may from time-tdime develop custom hardware products for our ensts that incorporate our touchscreen technology.policy is to recognize revenue fr
hardware product sales when title transfers amdofisoss has passed to the customer, which isrgéyp@pon shipment of our hardware products toaistomers. We w

estimate expected sales returns and record therdrasia reduction of revenue and cost of hardwadeother revenue at the time of shipment. To da¢éehave not so
any hardware products.
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Software Products:

We may derive revenues from software licensingssale will account for the licensing of softwareaccordance with accounting guidance and suchagai
requires judgment, including whether a softwareargement includes multiple elements, and if so,thérevendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOH)fair value
exists for those elements.

For software license arrangements that do not recgignificant modification or customization of thederlying software, we will recognize new softesdicens
revenue when: (1) we enter into a legally bindinguagement with a customer for the license of safew (2) we deliver the products; (3) customer peytris deeme
fixed or determinable and free of contingenciesignificant uncertainties; and (4) collection iagenably assured.

On January 1, 2011, we adopted new authoritativéagiee on a prospective basis for revenue arranggsnsentaining multiple deliverables. This guidaneguires u
to allocate revenues to all deliverables basedheir telative selling price using a specific hietay. The hierarchy is as follows: vendspecific objective eviden
(“VSOE"), third-party evidence of selling price (PE”) or best estimate of selling price (“BESP”).

When a sale involves multiple elements, we wilbedite the entire fee from the arrangement to easpective element based on VSOE of fair value andgniz:
revenue when each elementevenue recognition criteria are met. VSOE af faiue for each element is established based ®@pribe charged when the same eleme
sold separately. We have established VSOE for oftware licenses based on historical stalahe sales to third parties or from the stateéwah rates contained in 1
customer contracts. Maintenance service revenge@gnized on a straight-line basis over the supgpatod.

We have not yet demonstrated VSOE for the professiservices that are rendered in conjunction withsoftware license sales. In accordance withhteerchy w:
would attempt to establish the selling price offessional services using TPE. Our product contsigisificant differentiation such that the compaeapticing of produc
with similar functionality cannot be obtained. We #&ypically not able to obtain TPE for professibservices.

When we are unable to establish selling pricesgugi8OE or TPE, we use BESP. The objective of BEX® determine the price at which we would trangsagdle i
professional services were sold on a stand-aloses.bBESP is generally used for offerings that rawe typically sold on a stanalone basis or for highly customi:
offerings.

We will also continue to defer revenues that regmésindelivered postelivery engineering support until the engineesogport has been completed and the soft
product is accepted. To date, we have not soldsaftware products.

The adoption of this guidance did not have a mateffect on our consolidated financial statements.
Deferred Revenue

From time-to-time the Company receives pesments from its customers related to future sesvor future license fee revenues. The Comparersiéfese revent
until the services have been provided or untillitense fees are earned.

Advertising

Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Adsiagticosts amounted to approximately $241,000 &8J0B0 for the years ended December 31, 2011 ah@,
respectively.

Product Research and Development

Research and development (“R&DPsts are expensed as incurred. R&D costs consistiyrof personnel related costs in addition to sarternal consultancy co
such as testing, certifying and measurements.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense
We measure the cost of employee services receivedchange for an award of equity instrumentsuiiclg share options, based on the fair value ofthard on th

grant date, and recognize the value as compensatipense over the period the employee is requogatdvide services in exchange for the award, lstia¢ vestini
period, net of estimated forfeitures.
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We account for equity instruments issued to nonieyges at their fair value and the unvested porioremeasured each reporting period as long as thaimstr
requires variable accounting.

When determining stock-based compensation expenwséving options and warrants, we determine themeged fair value of options and warrants usingBleck-
Scholes option pricing model.

Accounting for Debt Issued with Detachable Stockriébase Warrants and Beneficial Conversion Features

We account for debt issued with stock purchaseamésrby allocating the proceeds of the debt betweemnebt and the detachable warrants based aeltteve fai
values of the debt security without the warrantd #e warrants themselves, if the warrants aretg@qustruments. The relative fair value of therraats is recorded a:
debt discount and amortized to expense over theofithe related debt using the straighé method, which approximates the effective ieg¢tmethod. At each balar
sheet date, we make a determination if these wiaimsimuments should be classified as liabilitiegquity, and reclassify them if the circumstandiesate.

In certain instances, the Company enters into avie notes that provide for an effective or attade of conversion that is below market valued #re embedde
conversion feature does not qualify for derivatireatment (a “BCF").In these instances, we account for the value oBfBE as a debt discount, which is then amor
to expense over the life of the related debt utfiegstraight-line method, which approximates theative interest method.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax liabilities and assetstfe expected future tax consequences of itenishthee been included in the consolidated finarst@lements or ti
returns. We estimate income taxes based on rateffeict in each of the jurisdictions in which weeoate. Deferred income tax assets and liabilitesdatermined bas
upon differences between the financial statemedtiacome tax bases of assets and liabilities usimacted tax rates in effect for the year in whioh differences a
expected to reverse. The realization of deferradatsets is based on historical tax positions ampeaations about future taxable income. Valuagtiowances ai
recorded against net deferred tax assets whemriomnion, realization is uncertain based on thet ‘more likely than not” criteria of the accougiguidance.

Based on the uncertainty of future pee-income, we fully reserved our net deferreddssgets as of December 31, 2011 and 2010. In thre exewere to determil
that we would be able to realize our deferred &sets in the future, an adjustment to the defdeedsset would increase income in the period sudbtermination wi
made. The provision for income taxes representa¢hehange in deferred tax amounts, plus incoxestpayable for the current period.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the relesaodunting guidance related to uncertain tax posstiwhich provisions include a tvetep approach to recognizi
de+ecognizing and measuring uncertain tax positiohs.a result, we did not recognize a liability fomrecognized tax benefits. As of December 31, 20id 2010, w
had no unrecognized tax benefits.

Net Loss Per Share

Net loss per share amounts have been computed bagsbe weightedwerage number of shares of common stock outstgriliring the years ended Decembel
2011 and 2010. Net loss per share, assuming dil@mounts from common stock equivalents, is compbtesed on the weighted average number of shamesnuhol
stock and potential common stock equivalents ontlitey during the period. The weighted average nunabeshares of common stock and potential commonok
equivalents used in computing the net loss peresfaryears ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 exdhedpotential common stock equivalents, as tfexiefvould b
anti-dilutive (see Note 15).

Comprehensive Loss

Our comprehensive loss includes foreign currenapdiation gains and losses. The cumulative amofiitanslation gains and losses are reflected asparat
component in the consolidated statements of stddkhss equity (deficit) and comprehensive loss.

Cash Flow Information
Cash flows in foreign currencies have been condeiteU.S. dollars at an approximate weighted avemragchange rate for the respective reporting psridte
weighted average exchange rate for the consolidatgdments of operations was 6.50 and 7.21 Swédisha to one U.S. Dollar for the years ended Ddmam31, 201

and 2010, respectively. The exchange rate for timsalidated balance sheets was 6.92 and 6.78 SwKdima to one U.S. Dollar as of December 31, 28id 201(
respectively.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

We disclose the estimated fair values for all fitiahinstruments for which it is practicable toieste fair value. Financial instruments includingsk, accoun
receivable, payables and current portions of l@rgitdebt are deemed to approximate fair value dubeir short maturities. The carrying amountsasfgterm dek
cannot be reasonably determined since no quotekietnarices exist for these instruments and quotiep for similar instruments cannot be locatee (dete 6).

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Stadel&oard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upd@ASU 2009-13"), Multiple-Deliverable Revent
Arrangement;, which amends the revenue guidance under ASC Tf}icRevenue Recognitignwhich describes the accounting for multiglement arrangements. A
2009413 addresses how to determine whether an arrangeémveifving multiple deliverables contains morerthtane unit of accounting and how arrangement cenatbr
shall be measured and allocated to the separateafraccounting in the arrangement. ASU 2009- 1¥fisctive on a prospective basis for the Compaffigcal year 201
with earlier adoption permitted. The Company adog&U 200913 on January 1, 2011 and determined that the ihopt this guidance did not have a material effm
the consolidated financial statements.

In September 2009, the FASB issued ASU 2009Qdrtain Revenue Arrangements That Include Softviieenents(*ASU 2009-14"), which excludes tangib
products containing software components and notwsoé components that function together to delp@ducts essential functionality from scope of ASC Top&5:
Softwarewhich describes the accounting for software reveruaegnition. ASU 2009-14 is effective on a prospecbasis for the Comparg/fiscal year 2011, with earl
adoption permitted. The Company adopted ASU 2D0%n January 1, 2011 and determined that the mxopf this guidance did not have a material effetthe
consolidated financial statements.

In May 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011F4ir Value Measurement'/ASU 2011-04"). ASU 201D4 amends existing guidance to achieve convergan
measurement and disclosure between U.S. GAAP dathhitional Financial Reporting Standards ("IFR83U 201164 is effective for fiscal year 2012. The Compas
currently evaluating the impact that ASU 2011-04 have on its consolidated financial statements.

In June 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 2011-0Bresentation of Comprehensive IncoSU 2011-05"). The provisions of ASU 20106 allow an entity tt
option to present the total of comprehensive incothe components of net income, and the comporefntgher comprehensive income either in a singletinoou
statement of comprehensive income or in two sepédmatt consecutive statements. In both choicesnéty is required to present each component ofneetme along wit
total net income, each component of other compigherincome along with a total for other comprelemincome, and a total amount for comprehensicenme. Th
statement(s) are required to be presented withlgoaaninence as the other primary financial statetsie ASU No. 201D5 eliminates the option to present
components of other comprehensive income as pattieoftatement of changes in shareholdegsiity but does not change the items that musteperted in othe
comprehensive income or when an item of other cehmgmisive income must be reclassified to net inco@ertain provisions of ASU No. 20105 are effective for tf
Company’s interim reporting period beginning onafter December 15, 2011, with retrospective appboarequired. The adoption of ASU No. 200%-is expected
result in presentation changes to the Compapphsolidated statements of operations and thi#@ddf a consolidated statement of comprehensieeme (loss). Tt
adoption of ASU No. 2011-05 will have no impacttbe Company’s consolidated balance sheet.

3. Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets

Prepaid expense and other current assets consis @fllowing (in thousands):
As of December 31

2011 2010
Prepaid insuranc $ 46 $ 32
Prepaid ren 49 11
Receivable from supplie 1 15
VAT receivable 11C 62
Other 28 41
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 234 % 161
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4. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the followingtfiausands):
As of December 31

2011 2010
Computers, software, furniture and fixtu $ 151 % 42
Less accumulated depreciation (43) (18)
Property and equipment, net $ 106 $ 24
Depreciation and amortization expense for the geded $ 26 $ 11

5.  Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following (in thends):
As of December 31

2011 2010
Earned salary, payroll taxes, vacation and ber $ 56C $ 20t
Accrued consulting fees and other 41 43¢
Total accrued expenses $ 601 $ 643

6.  Convertible Debt
Our convertible debt consists of the following ffimusands):

As of December 31

2011 2010
Senior Convertible Secured Noi- 2010 $ - 0% 1,75C
Senior Convertible Secured No- 2009 - 937
Senior Convertible Secured Notes - 2007 - 85
Total convertible debt $ - $ 2,772

Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2007

At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, we$fadnd $85,000, respectively, of convertible pramig notes (“Senior Convertible Secured Notes-2p07”
bearing the greater of 8% or LIBOR plus 3% intepestannum, convertible into shares of our comntocksat an original conversion price of $87.50 glesire. The Seni
Convertible Secured Notes2607 were originally due August 26, 2010. On Sepin?22, 2010, we entered into a debt modificatigreament with the two holders of
aggregate of $126,362 of convertible promissoryesidhat were due on August 26, 2010. Based onetimestof the modification, this transaction quatifias a del
extinguishment under the relevant accounting guidaAs part of the debt extinguishment, the matutéte of the convertible promissory notes wasreled until Apri
26, 2011. We entered into a debt-gayuity repayment plan whereby we retired the cdiblerpromissory notes in equal installments byiisg our common stock pric
at a 15% discount from the average market closiige for the five days ending on the 25th of eaamth over the eight month period beginning Septer@lée 201!
ending on April 26, 2011. The holders of the ndtad the right to convert the outstanding balarmezeg at $2.25 per share if the market value ofammmon stock wi
greater than $2.50 per share for five consecutiyes.d

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we isthesdote holders 31,570 shares of our common gtoduant to the debt-farquity repayment plan and retired
remaining note principal balance on April 26, 200 recorded $84,657 of note principal reductiod $h,054 of interest payment.
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September 2009 Senior Convertible Secured NotesEiimg Transaction

During the period from August 25, 2009 through Deber 15, 2009, we completed a private placemenbo¥ertible notes totaling $987,000 that were caedt a
the holder’s option, into shares of our commonlstttca conversion price of $0.50 per share (thent@dible Notes - 2009”)The convertible note holders had the rigl
have the conversion price adjusted to equal thed®tock price if we issued common stock or corilblernotes at a lower conversion price than $0&0share during ti
period that the notes were outstanding. The CoikerNotes -2009 that were originally due on December 31, 2@&@e extended to June 30, 2011 (see below
Warrant Repricing and Debt Extension Financing $aztion —2010) and bore an annual interest rate of 7%, payab June 30 and December 31 of each year th
convertible notes were outstanding. In addition,isgeied 986,983 thrgegear warrants to the convertible note holders waittexercise price of $1.00 per share. The wai
may be exercised and converted to common sto¢keatarrant holder’s option, beginning on the signth anniversary of the date of issuance untiWtherant expiratio
date. We are not obligated to register the comstook related to the convertible debt or the was:aBuring the year ended December 31, 2011 weds4,851,48
shares of our common stock to holders of Convertibtes 2009 who converted principal of $912,036 and $1B d0related accrued interest. On June 30, 201Taia
in cash the remaining outstanding principal balasfc25,000 of Convertible Notes — 2009. As of 8mber 31, 2011, all of the Convertible NoteB089 have been p:
in full with cash or have been converted to shafesur common stock.

The embedded conversion feature of the Converiiokes —2009 met the definition of a derivative financiasirument and was classified as a liability in adaact
with relevant accounting guidance. The note holtiasthe right to convert the debt into sharesunfommmon stock, and the notes included price ptiote whereby the:
notes were protected for as long as the notes neda@utstanding against future private placemeiidenat lower share prices, and therefore, the notaber of shares
our common stock that the convertible notes cod@dbnvertible into was not fixed. The embedded egsion features were revalued on each balance dagetan
marked-to-market with the change recorded to cesh items related to debt discounts, deferredding fees and the valuation of conversion featareswarrants in tt
consolidated statements of operations. As a redutie conversions and repayments during the yeded December 31, 2011, the Company reclassifiptoapnately
$4.6 million of the related derivative liabilitiés additional paidn capital. As of December 31, 2011, the fair vadfiche remaining embedded conversion features$f
due to the repayment or conversion of all the Cdible Notes -2009. The Company recorded a loss of $2.3 millina th the change in the fair value of the embe
conversion features of these Convertible NotesG92luring the year ended December 31, 2011.

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2040ecorded a total of $15,000 and $62,000, rebdytin interest expense related to the principalance ¢
the Convertible Notes — 2009.

Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2010

During the period from January 2010 through June28a0, we received $1,597,000 in cash proceedsameerted $163,000 of accounts payable relatedpavate
placement of convertible notes (“Convertible Note2010”) and stock purchase warrants that were exitie, at the holdes' option, into shares of our common stock
conversion price of $0.50 per share and we issy#D]712 stock purchase warrants that had an eeepcice of $1.00 per share. The convertible noteens had the rig
to have the conversion price adjusted to equalaiver stock price if we issued stock or convertibties at a lower conversion price than $0.50 duitie period that tt
notes were outstanding. These convertible notes weginally due on December 31, 2010 and werenebae to June 30, 2011 (see below under Warranti¢Regpranc
Debt Extension Financing Transactior2610) and bore an annual interest rate of 7%, payab June 30 and December 31 of each year thatatmeertible notes we
outstanding. The warrants may be exercised andetcted/to common stock, at the warrant holder'sasptbeginning on the simmonth anniversary date of issuance |
the warrant expiration date. We are not obligatedegister the common stock related to the corblertiebt or the warrants. During the year endeceBéer 31, 2011, v
issued 3,557,171 shares of our common stock teehmlof Convertible Notes 2010 who converted principal of $1,750,143 and $23,0f related accrued interest. A:
December 31, 2011, all of the Convertible Note®*®have been converted to shares of our commaok.sto

The embedded conversion feature of the Converiolies 2010 met the definition of a derivative financiasirument and was classified as a liability in adeact
with accounting guidance. The note holders haditite to convert the debt into shares of our comratmtk, and the notes include price protection ebgrthese noti
were protected for as long as the notes remainefamdling against future private placements madevar share prices, and therefore, the total nurobshares of o
common stock that the convertible notes could bevedible into was not fixed. The embedded coneeréeatures was revalued on each balance sheeamdtearked 1
market with the increase or decrease in fair vatuaoncash items related to debt discounts and defeimeshding fees and the valuation of conversion festan:
warrants in the consolidated statements of operatids a result of the conversions during the pealed December 31, 2011, the Company reclassifipadbgimately $8.
million of the related derivative liabilities to ditional paidin capital. As of December 31, 2011, the fair vadfiehe remaining embedded conversion feature§ ias$al
the Convertible Notes 2010 were converted. The Company recorded a loapmiximately $4.4 million due to the change ie thir value of the embedded conver:
feature of these Convertible Notes — 2010 durirgysar ended December 31, 2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2011 and 20&0reworded a total of approximately $28,000 and9§XD, respectively, in interest expense relateth¢
principal balance of the Convertible Notes — 2010.
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Warrant Repricing and Debt Extension Financing Taction - 2010

During September and October 2010, all of the hsldé the convertible notes and the holders ofsleek purchase warrants issued in the 2009 and 3@ehd
Secured Convertible Debt Financing Transactionsetjto extend the maturity date of their convestitdébt from December 31, 2010 to June 30, 2011ruhdesam
terms and conditions as the original notes. Holdé25766,857 stock purchase warrants also agreegdrcise their previously granted thsesr warrants with an exerc
price of $1.00 for a discounted exercise price@B8 per share. They received 2,766,857 sharesraf@mmon stock and 2,766,857 replacement these-warrants wit
an exercise price of $1.38 for each warrant exedci¥Ve raised a total of $2.4 million by these waatrexercises. In accordance with relevant accogrguidance, w
noted that the transaction qualified for debt eggishment accounting. As a result, the remainiriyf descounts were written off and charged to irgeexpense and fi
value of the replacement warrants were recordéasgon extinguishment of debt, which was deemdtbtthe date that the convertible debt holder sighe modificatio
agreement. As the Company did not have sufficiensawed authorized shares to cover all dilutivérimsents until the increase in authorized share®ecember 1.
2010, these replacement warrants were initiallpmed as derivative liabilities at their grant dfete value. On December 13, 2010, the Companyesed its authoriz
shares and then had sufficient authorized sharesver all dilutive instruments and as such théaegment warrants were vedued on that date (totaling $4,335,785)
the Company reclassified the replacement warrarasiditional paid-in-capital in accordance wittexgint accounting guidance.

Senior Convertible Secured Notes- 2011

During March and April 2011, we received approxiehat$4.2 million in cash proceeds related to a gigvplacement of convertible notesSéhior Convertibl
Secured Notes — 2011"), bearing interest at aabseven percent (7%) per annum, that was schedaledture on March 1, 2014 and that were conJertibthe holder
option into 1,691,320 shares of our common stock @inversion price of $2.50 per share. The note wutomatically convertible into shares of thenPanys commo
stock in the event that on or before the note date dither (a) the Comparsycommon stock was traded at a price per shar®.86%r higher for five (5) consecut
trading days, or (b) the Company consummated ading in the amount of at least $5 million. Theraed interest was payable in stock, using theGs@dbiversion pric
or cash, at the holder’s option, on June 30 aeckihber 31 of each year.

In connection with the March and April 2011 finamgitransactions the Company valued the warranigdsto the convertible note holders on a relarevalue bas
using the BlackScholes option pricing model, totaling $937,000isTrelative fair value of the warrants was recordsd debt discount. The embedded conversion &
to the notes has been determined to meet the tiefirof a derivative liability and as of the dattissuance was valued at $4.8 million. In accorg@awith relevar
accounting guidance, the Company recorded an additidebt discount up to the full amount of theesotecorded the derivative liability for the emtbed conversic
feature at $4.8 million and recorded the fair valuexcess of face amount of debt as interest esgpen the issuance date of $1.5 million. The difaodint was amortize
in full upon the conversion of the notes to commstotk on December 14, 2011. As of December 31, 2B&lfair value of the embedded conversion featta® $0 due
the conversion of all the Senior Convertible Seduoées —2011. The Company recorded a loss of $1.9 millioa th the change in fair value of the embedded &~
feature for the year ended December 31, 2011 wikiglitluded in the accompanying consolidated statérof operations as a component of the cash items related
debt discounts and deferred financing fees anddhetion of conversion features and warrants.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynisaned 27,851 shares of unregistered common sbockite holders of the Senior Convertible SeciNetes—
2011 private placement financing transaction in ¢ cash for their $69,628 accrued interest payrteat was due June 30, 2011. In addition, the Gowpaid $10,27
of the accrued interest in cash to note holders ddwotined to convert their interest payment tolstoc

During the year ended December 31 2011, the Comisangd 422,830 new fiwgear common stock purchase warrants to the inv&gstath an exercise price of $3
per share (the “March 2011 Warrants”), with eackegtor receiving a number of March 2011 Warrands thequal to twenty-five percent (25%) of theeistor’s note ti
the Company. The March 2011 Warrants may be esextdoy cash payment or through cashless exercisieebgurrender of warrant shares having a valualequthe
exercise price of the portion of the warrants beiregrcised.

In October and November 2011, note holders of $8Xbof the original $4.2 million Senior Convertilfleecure Notes 2011 exercised their right to convert tl
notes and accrued interest and were issued 238E2Bs of our common stock.
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On December 13, 2011, following a public offeringrguant to a Registration Statement on For8) 8t Company received gross proceeds in exce$S ofillion.
Pursuant to the terms, as defined, in the Seniov@tible Secure Notes2011 agreements, the remaining outstanding prihbiglance immediately following such d:
plus accrued interest, was automatically convegtiinlo shares of common stock at a conversion pfi&®.50 per share. In accordance with the terhtiseopagreement, tl
Company automatically converted approximately $&flion of remaining principal and approximately 31000 of accrued interest into 1,513,237 shareghe
Companys common stock. In addition, the Company issuedB9shares of common stock related to the bonesesit feature associated with the mandatory coion
of the debt. The fair value of the shares issue@wemputed based on the stock price of the Conipaiymmon stock on December 14, 2011 and were valiu$897,84
and recorded as additional interest expense incash-items related to debt discounts and defemedding fees and the valuation of conversion festand warrants
the consolidated statement of operations. As dtrebthe conversions and repayments of the SeBanvertible Secure Note2011 during the year ended Decembe
2011, the Company reclassified approximately $6illiom of derivative liabilities to additional paith capital. The Company recorded a loss of $1.%anilfor the yes
ended December 31, 2011 due to the change indhiewf the embedded conversion features. As oéber 31, 2011, the fair value of the embedded ewitn feature
was $0. As of December 31, 2011, all of the Se@immvertible Secure Notes - 2011 plus accrued istevas paid or converted into shares of commorkstoc

During the year ended December 31, 2011 we recadethl of approximately $232,000, in interestenge related to the principal balance of the SeDamvertibl¢
Secured Notes — 2011.

7.  Fair Value Measurements

Accounting guidance defines fair value, establishdeamework for measuring fair value, and expadidslosure requirements about fair value measurem@ine
accounting guidance does not mandate any new daievmeasurements and is applicable to assetsadnilities that are required to be recorded at ¥ailue under oth
accounting pronouncements.

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy arscdéed as follows:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active miarker identical assets and liabilities. We had_ewel 1 assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 that are obsaleeeither directly or indirectly. We had no LeZehssets or liabilities.

Level 3: Unobservable inputs. We valued warrants e@mbedded conversion features that were withosersiable market values and the valuation requirbibk
level of judgment to determine fair value (Leveinputs). The Company estimated the fair value es¢hwarrants and embedded conversion features tsnBlack

Scholes option pricing model using the following@asptions:

For the yea
ended December 31, 20

Annual dividend yielc -
Expected life (years 0.50-4.8

Risk-free interest rat 0.18%- 1.90%
Expected volatility 117%- 221%
For the yea

ended December 31, 20

Annual dividend yielc -
Expected life (years 0.08-3.0

Risk-free interest rat 0.08%- 1.27%
Expected volatility 110%- 263%

The following table shows the classification of diabilities that were subject to fair value measuents and the rofbrward of these liabilities for the years en
December 31, 2011 and 2010 (in thousands):

Fair Value of Embedded Conversion Features and Waants

January 1, 201 $ 4,507
Derivatives added in connection with issuasfogebt

and equit 5,23¢
Derivatives reclassified to equity in connectiorthsiepayment

and conversion of de (29,28)

Net increase in fair value 16,26
December 31, 2010 $ 6,71¢
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Derivatives added in connection with issuasfagebt

and equit 4,76%
Derivatives reclassified to equity in connectigith repayment
and conversion of de (20,07E
Net increase in fair value 8,59
December 31, 2011 $ -

8. Deferred Revenue

Engineering development fees are recorded as defezvenue until such time as the engineering sesviave been provided.

As of December 31, 2011, we have $1.5 million efiedred license fee revenue related to a prepayfoeffiiture license fees from one customer andta taf $0.
million of deferred engineering development feesrfrfour customers. We are deferring the engineatagelopment fee revenue until such time as théneagng worl
has been completed. We expect to complete allgvinder these contracts by the fourth quart20d2.

9. Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

On February 29, 2012, the Company filed a Certiéiazf Correction with the Secretary of State ofdere effectively reducing the amount of its autest share
from 848,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 2,000s8ares of Preferred Stock to 70,000,000 shdr€éemmon Stock and 1,000,000 shares of PreferreckST his
correction reflects the new capital structure & @ompany following its 1-for-25 reverse split tbacame effective at the close of business on M25¢2011.

Common Stock

During the year ended December 31, 2011, SeriesefeiPed stockholders exchanged 82.79 shares @sS&rPreferred stock for 39,790 shares of our comstock
and Series B Preferred stockholders exchanged 264s of Series B Preferred stock for 6,282 shafreur common stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynisaned a total of 5,408,657 shares of commorksie@ result of the conversion of approximately’ $gillion
of the Senior Convertible Secured Notes — 2009281d private placement financing transactions gebtipal and accrued interest.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynpeneived proceeds of approximately $515,000 ftbenexercise of 493,426 warrants for shares of con
stock.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istheedote holders of Senior Convertible Secured N@@07 31,570 shares of our common stock pursuattie
debt-for-equity repayment plan and retired the iemg note principal balance and accrued intersting $86,000 on April 26, 2011.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coysaned 60,000 shares of common stock and issiBgear warrant to purchase 20,000 shares of cor
stock at an exercise price of $2.00 per sharetisfaetion of certain accrued expenses totalingd$dao.

On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd (a related party) mkged warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of constock. The Company recorded an additional $50&308toc
based compensation to compensate Davisa Ltd byingailie $1.00 exercise price and issued 50,00Cshafrour common stock to Davisa Ltd for servicesvigled ir
connection with the private placement of conveetibbtes and warrants in the March 2011 financiags@&ction.

During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Coynisaned 27,851 shares of unregistered common $bockite holders of the Senior Convertible SeciNetes—
2011 private placement financing transaction in b€ cash for their $69,628 accrued interest payrtert was due June 30, 2011 (see Note 6).

During the year ended December 31, 2011, we istheedote holders of Senior Convertible Secured N@@11 a total of 1,844,814 shares of our commorksanc

retired the note principal balance and accrueddsteotaling $4.6 million. Included in the totdlases issued of 1,844,814 is 99,461 shares of constoek issued fi
bonus interest (as defined) totaling $399,000.
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During the year ended December 31, 2011, we is3uithillion shares of our common stock to investoh® completed an equity financing transaction thased o
December 13, 2011 in which we raised $12.0 milkmwl received $11.2 million in cash, net of diregitisg costs but before other direct offering cast@pproximatel
$0.4 million.

On March 21, 2010, we issued 35,000 shares of @unwon stock and a warrant to purchase 35,000 sbams common stock at an exercise price of $p@&0shar
to an investor for services provided for the prvatacement of convertible note and warrant in28&0 financing transaction. The fair value of 8%000 shares
common stock is $26,000 based on our common stloding price on the date of issuance. The $26,@00vilue of the warrants is included in commoocktanc
additional paidn capital in the consolidated balance sheets aasl oviginally recorded as debt issuance costs ahdgeguently amortized to interest expense o
consolidated statement of operations for the yadeé December 31, 2010 (See Note 6).

On May 27, 2010, we issued 3,136 shares of our acamstock to a holder of two convertible promissantes who elected to convert and retire the $1
convertible promissory notes plus accrued inteae#iie $0.50 conversion price pursuant to the agteements (see Note 6).

On September 8, 2010, we issued 16,894 sharesr @ooumon stock to the holder of a convertible pssuiy note that was due on August 26, 2010. Weeckthe
$12,500 convertible promissory note and $170 ofust interest (see Note 6).

On September 13, 2010, we issued 450,263 shams @ommon stock in settlement of the Empire latvand we settled all outstanding warrants held mpiee. Ir
addition, our insurance carrier paid a cash seéterto Empire. The value of the shares issued tpitemvere $562,828 (based on the trading priceld%per share on t
date of settlement) and were charged to settleeguense included in general and administrative s in the accompanying consolidated statemeop@fations fc
the year ended December 31, 2010. The fair vallEngdire’s warrants was reclassified to additioraitlgn-capital at the date of settlement.

On September 22, 2010, we issued 120,111 shams abmmon stock to a holder of two convertiblenpissory notes who elected to convert and retiredb&0,00
of convertible promissory notes plus accrued irstea¢ the $0.50 conversion price pursuant to the agreements (see Note 6).

On September 23, 2010, we issued 6,933 sharesrafooumon stock and a warrant to purchase 6,93%slafrour common stock at an exercise price ofGhpe
share to an investor for services provided for ihgate placement of convertible note and warranthie 2010 financing transaction. The fair valdehe shares 1
common stock and warrants totaling $24,000 arerdetbas interest expense with an offsetting amtwuetuity (see Note 6).

On September 25, 2010, we issued 15,000 sharas @ocmon stock and a warrant to purchase 15,08@slof our common stock at an exercise price diCbfie

share to an investor for services provided for fihigate placement of convertible note and warranthie 2010 financing transaction. The fair valdighe shares
common stock and warrants totaling $52,000 arerdetbas interest expense with an offsetting amtwuetuity (see Note 6).
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On September 29, 2010, we issued 11,462 sharas @bonmon stock for the conversion of principal ameérest of senior convertible secured notes oally issue:
in 2007 (see Note 6).

During September 2010, we issued 348,464 sharesrafommon stock for the exercise of warrants imneation with the 2009 and 2010 convertible detmricings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmesthe warrant repricing and debt extension agese (see Note 6).

On October 11, 2010, we issued 48,000 shares ot@mumon stock in settlement of the Berman lawsniét eanceled all outstanding warrants held by Bernin
addition, our insurance carrier paid a cash seéferto Berman and we paid an additional cash segti¢ to Berman. The value of the shares issuectm&n were value
at $84,000 (based on the trading price of $1.75hare on the date of settlement) and were chaogsettlement expense included in general and aslrétive expenst
in the accompanying consolidated statement of dipesafor the year ended December 31, 2010.

On October 18, 2010, we issued 1,235,636 sharearafommon stock for the exercise of warrants inneetion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible detmricings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmsthe warrant repricing and debt extension agese (see Note 6).

On October 27, 2010, we issued 12,966 shares af@muamon stock for the conversion of principal antgiiest of senior convertible secured notes orilyinssued it
2007 (see Note 6).

On November 4, 2010, we issued 792,086 sharesrafa@umon stock for the exercise of warrants in emtion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible debtrfoiags
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmesthe warrant repricing and debt extension ageee (see Note 6).

On November 19, 2010, we issued 390,672 sharesrafammon stock for the exercise of warrants innemtion with the 2009 and 2010 convertible delarirings
The warrants were exercised at $0.88 per sharel lmesthe warrant repricing and debt extension agese (see Note 6).

On December 13, 2010, we increased the numberrafuthorized shares of common stock from 698,0@t6648,000,000.

On December 13, 2010, we issued 9,866 shares afomumon stock for the conversion of principal amigiest of senior convertible secured notes orilyingsued it
2007 (see Note 6).

On December 29, 2010, we issued 12,002 sharesrafomomon stock for the conversion of principal amerest of senior convertible secured notes oaigjrissuer
in 2007 (see Note 6).

Preferred Stock
The terms of the Series A and Series B Prefermkstre as follows:
. Dividends and Distribution:

Series A Preferred: The holders of shares of Series A Preferred stogleatitled to participate with the holders of cammon stock wit
respect to any dividends declared on the commocksito proportion to the number of shares of comnstock
issuable upon conversion of the shares of SeriBseferred stock held by thel

Series B Preferred: The holders of shares of Series B Preferred stoelentitled to participate with the holders of common stock wit

respect to any dividends declared on the commock sito proportion to the number of shares of comnstock
issuable upon conversion of the shares of SerieseRerred stock held by the
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e Liquidation Preference

Series A Preferred: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, omging up of our operations, either voluntary oraluntary, subject 1
the rights of any other series of Preferred stacke established by the Board of Directors (tBerior Preferre
Stock”), the holders of Series A Preferred stock shall béles to receive, after any distribution to thelders o
Senior Preferred Stock and prior to and in prefegeio any distribution to the holders of commorckst0.001 fo
each share of Series A Preferred stock then oulistgr

Series B Preferred: In the event of any liquidation, dissolution, omging up of our operations, either voluntary ordluntary, subject 1
the rights of the Series A Preferred stock and @drieferred Stock, the holders of Series B Prefestock shall k
entitled to receive, after any distribution to ti@ders of Senior Preferred Stock and prior to imnpreference to ai
distribution to the holders of common stock, $0.@fXleach share of Series B Preferred stock théstanding.

e Voting

The holders of shares of Series A Preferred stockSeries B Preferred stock shall have one votedch share of Series A Preferred stock and SBrieseferre:
stock held by them.

. Conversior

Initially, each share of Series A Preferred stoe#t each share of Series B Preferred stock was dilsieento one share of our common stock. Any nfiodtion to the
conversion rate requires shareholder approval lfgé@v). On March 31, 2009, our shareholders apgtaveesolution to increase the authorized sharéatapnd tc
increase the conversion ratio to 480.63 sharemwinmon stock for each share of Series A Preferrecksand to 132.07 shares of our common stock foh shares «
Series B Preferred stock, thus completing theuesitring begun in December 2008.

Conversion of Preferred Stock Issued to Common St&c
On April 24, 2009, we initiated the process of ailog the shareholders of our preferred stock tovedrthe Series A and B Preferred stock to sharesiocommol
stock. In order to convert the preferred stockdmmon stock each preferred stock shareholder isnestjto submit the preferred stock certificat@tw transfer agent a

request conversion to common stock. The converslooommon stock is not mandatory and shareholdérs ewn preferred stock may choose not to convesir
preferred stock to shares of our common stock.féh@wving table summarizes the preferred stockyeitconverted as of December 31, 2011.
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Shares of Preferred
Stock Not
Exchanged as of

Shares of Commor
Stock after
Conversion of all
Outstanding Shares
of Preferred Stock
Not yet Exchanged
at December 31,

December 31, 2011 Conversion Ratio 2011
Series A Preferred stot 83 480.6: 39,89:
Series B Preferred stock 114 132.01 15,05¢
Total remaining not exchanged 197 54,94¢

10. Stock-Based Compensation

We have several approved stock option plans fockvitock options and restricted stock awards aadladle to grant to employees, consultants andcttirs. All
employee and director stock options granted undestmck option plans have an exercise price eguidle market value of the underlying common stmckhe grant dat
There are no vesting provisions tied to performacmeditions for any options, as vesting for all stahding option grants was based only on contiregdice as ¢
employee, consultant or director. All of our outstang stock options and restricted stock awardslassified as equity instruments.

Amortization of Fair Value of Stock Issued to Retat Parties for Purchase of Neonode Technologies AB

On December 29, 2008, we entered into a Share Bgehagreement with Neonode Technologies AB andstbekholders of Neonode Technologies AB: Iwo .
SARL, Wirelesstoys AB, and Athemis Ltd (the “NeoercBechnologies AB Stockholdersfjursuant to which we agreed to acquire all of #seéd and outstanding shi
of Neonode Technologies AB in exchange for thedase of 19,800 shares of the Compan$eries A Preferred stock. Pursuant to the terftthe Share Exchan
Agreement, upon the closing of the transaction, Méde Technologies AB became a wholly owned subsidid the Company. The Neonode Technologies
Stockholders are or were employees of us and/ond#®AB, and as such are related parties.

The fair value of the conversion feature of theB9, shares of Series A Preferred shares issudtteetated parties to acquire Neonode Technologishat wa:
converted to a total of 9,516,447 shares of ourmomstock was $9.5 million based on our stock poicdlarch 31, 2009, the date our shareholders a&pgrthe increast
conversion ratio. Because this transaction wasngisdly the issuance of shares to key employeeshfair continued service to enhance the Company $9.5 millio
revised fair value of the common stock has beenrtired to compensation expense at the rate of ®ill®dn per quarter for six quarters beginning Jamyul, 2009. Th
amortization of the $9.5 million in compensatiomperse related the value of the stock issued toetléed parties to acquire Neonode TechnologiesvaB completed ¢
June 30, 2010. For the year ended December 31,&R20million has been recorded as compensatioaresein our consolidated statements of operations.

Stock Options
As of December 31, 2011, we had four equity ina@ngllans:
« The 1996 Stock Option Plan (the “1996 Plan”), whespired in January 2006;
« The 1998 Non-Officer Stock Option Plan (the “1998rP), which expired in June 2008;
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« The 2007 Neonode Stock Option Plan (the “Neonodaplfrom which we will not grant any
additional equity awards; at
« The 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan”).
We also have one non-employee director stock optian as of December 31, 2011:
« The 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plée (Director Plan”), which expired in March 2011.

The following table details the outstanding optitmgurchase shares of our common stock pursuagdo plan at December 31, 2011:

Options
Plan Outstandint
1996 Plar 80C
1998 Plar 1,12(
Neonode Plal 7,06¢
2006 Plar 9,00(
Director Plan 1,34(

Total 19,324

The following table summarizes information with pest to all options to purchase shares of commocksbutstanding under the 1996 Plan, the 1998 Fen200!
Plan, the Neonode Plan and the Director Plan aeidéer 31, 2011:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise  Number Outstanding  Weighted Average Remaining  Weighted Average Weighted Average
Price at 12/31/11 Contractual Life (years Exercise Prict Number Exercisable at 12/31/ Exercise Prict

$ 0.00- $35.3¢ 7,064 0.0t $ 35.3¢ 7,064 $ 35.3¢
$ 35.40- $58.2! 780 195 $ 58.2% 780 $ 58.2%
$ 58.26- $86.2! 3,20C 3.01 $ 86.2E 3,20C $ 86.2E
$ 86.26- $100.00 80 025 $ 100.0C 80 $ 100.0C
$ 100.01- $125.00 7,40C 257 $ 122.7¢ 7,40C $ 122.7¢
$ 125.01- $368.7 800 0.25 $ 368.7¢ 800 $ 368.7¢
19,324 158 $ 92.1¢ 19,32¢ $ 92.1¢
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A summary of the combined activity under all of 8teck option plans is set forth below:

Weighted

Average
Number of Exercise Price Weighted-Average

Shares Per Shart Exercise Prict

Outstanding at January 1, 2C 19,88: $ 35.39-687.5( $ 103.6:
Granted - $ - $ -
Cancelled or expire (80) $ 348.7F % 348.7¢
Exercised - $ - 3 -
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 19,80¢ $ 35.39-687.5( $ 101.3¢
Granted - $ - 3% -
Cancelled or expire (480 $ 135.0¢- 687.5( $ 523.2¢
Exercised - $ - $ --
Outstanding, vested and expected to vest at Deme&ih 2011 19.32:  $ 35.39-368.7F $ 92.1¢

The aggregate intrinsic value of the 19,324 stqutioos that are outstanding, vested and expecteesioat December 31, 2011 is $0.

During the years ended December 31, 2011 and Demedih 2010, the Company recorded $87,000 and 8Q@2respectively, of compensation expense relatéok
vesting of stock options granted in 2007. The ¥ailue of the stock-based compensation was calclietimg the BlackScholes option pricing model as of the grant dé
the stock option.

The 1996 Plan terminated effective January 17, 2806 the 1998 Plan terminated effective June @882Although we can no longer issue stock optimumsof the
plans, the outstanding options at the date of teation will remain outstanding and vest in accoodgawith their terms. Options granted under the @mePlan vest over
one to fouryear period, expire five to seven years after the @f grant and have exercise prices reflectincketavalue of the shares of our common stock ordtte o
grant. Stock options granted under the 1996, 19982806 Plans are exercisable over a maximum tétenoyears from the date of grant, vest in varimssallments ove
a one to four-year period and have exercise prifecting the market value of the shares of comstook on the date of grant.

The Neonode Plan has been designed for particiggntgho are subject to Swedish income taxatiorcliea Swedish Participant) and (i) who are notjestthtc
Swedish income taxation (each, a Non-Swedish Raatit). The options issued under the plan to the-Swedish Participant are five year options. We nalt grant an
additional equity awards out of the Neonode Plan.

On January 30, 2012, the Board of Directors of Neleninc. adopted an amendment to the 2006 Plarctedse the number of shares of common stock azellopy
issuance under the 2006 Plan by an additional tilaam(2,000,000) shares.

We did not grant any options to purchase sharesio€ommon stock to employees or members of ourdogDirectors during the year ended Decembe281,1.
Warrants

We issued 80,000 fivgear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi§2.60 per share to our legal advisor during tearyended December 31, 2011. We
issued 20,000 thregear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi2.00 per share to one of our U.S. based emptogleeing the year ended December 31, 201
addition, we issued 20,000 thrgear stock purchase warrants at an exercise prié.05 per share to an engineering consultanhduhie year ended December 31, 2
These warrants to purchase an aggregate of 126(@0@s of our common stock vested on the dateasit.gfhe vested warrant granted to our legal advias a fair valt
on the date of grant of $193,000 and is includegeneral and administrative expense for the yede@®ecember 31, 2011. The vested warrant graotedrtemploye
has a fair value on the date of grant of $37,0aDiarincluded in product research and developmeperse for the year ended December 31, 2011. Téted/evarrar
granted to our engineering consultant has a fdirevan the date of grant of $73,000 and is inclubtedroduct research and development expense éyélar ende
December 31, 2011.
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We issued 20,000 threear stock purchase warrants at an exercise pfi$8.80 per share with a vesting period over 24 tmoto an employee during the year er
December 31, 2011. The unvested warrant grantad #mployee has a fair value on the date of gifa®7%,000. This amount will be expensed over theting period an
$11,000 of expense related to this warrant is ohetliin product research and development expenshdoyear ended December 31, 2011. The fair vafistock-base:
compensation related to the issuance of warramalcsilated using the Black-Scholes option priaimadel as of the grant date of the underlying warran

The stockbased compensation expense for the year ended Dec&t, 2011 reflects the fair value of the vegtedion of options and warrants granted to emple:
Stockbased compensation expense for the year ended Decé&h, 2010 also includes $3.2 million of amott@a of the value of stock issued to related parfi the
purchase of Neonode Technologies AB. Stock-basetpensation expense in the accompanying consalidgs¢ements of operations is as follows (in thods

Year ended Year ended Remaining unamortized expense at
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Stock-based compensation $ 543C $ 55C $ 15E

The remaining unamortized expense related to stmtlons and warrants will be recognized on a sirtaline basis monthly as compensation expense the
remaining vesting period which approximates 18 rhent

See Note 7 for assumptions used to value warrat®mbedded conversion features during the yeaedeecember 31, 2011 and 2010.
A summary of all warrant activity is set forth beto

December 31, 201

Weighted Average
Weighted Average = Remaining Contractui

Outstanding and exercisable Warrants Exercise Prict Life
January 1, 201 7,751,790 $ 0.57 3.5¢€
Issuec 6,240,500 $ 1.27 -
Expired/forfeitec - - -
Exercised (8,852,80) $ 0.62 -
December 31, 201 5,139,48° $ 1.27 3.2¢
Issuec 809,54 $ 3.0¢ 4.0€
Expired/forfeitec -- -- --
Exercised (543,42 $ 1.04 2.74
Outstanding and exercisable, December 31, 2011 5,405,600 $ 1.57 2.4¢F

During the year ended December 31, 2010, we isaddifional convertible debt with warrants and alsorants to a broker. Prior to December 13, 201 did no
have sufficient unissued authorized shares tcesafitbutstanding equity instruments, the warrargse classified as liabilities (see Notes 6 and 7).
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As a result of the issuance of convertible notesarly October 2009, we no longer had enough uegswthorized shares to settle all outstandingtgiustruments
including convertible preferred stock, convertitllebt, options and warrants. Therefore, in accarelavith the applicable accounting guidance, all-eoiployee warran
were required to be recorded as liabilities fromt gpoint and marked-torarket at each period until we have sufficient smésl authorized shares to settle all outstal
equity instruments. As a result, we reclassifteg fair value of all nommployee warrants not already recorded as lisgslitotaling $837,000 as of October 1, 2009
additional paid-incapital to embedded derivatives of convertible detd warrants. The warrants issued to the holderthis financing were originally recorded
derivative liabilities as we did not have suffideauthorized unissued shares of common stock tte st outstanding equity instruments. On Decembg&r 2010, th
Company increased its authorized shares of comrtawk 40 cover all potentially dilutive instrumentsitstanding. As a result, on December 9, 2010,Gbmpan'
reclassified the fair value of the warrants on thete, totaling $4.3 million to additional paiddapital, as warrants no longer qualified as deieanstruments.

On September 22, 2010, we issueged+ warrants to purchase 6,400 of our common stocéxercise price of $1.00 per share to holdeuofSenior Convertib
Secured Notes 2007 to extend the maturity date of the notes éiil 26, 2011. The fair value of the warrantgptarchase 6,400 shares of common stock was $28t
the date of issuance and was recorded as expeng®nent of the loss on extinguishment of debt @dbcompanying consolidated statement of operafmmihe yes
ended December 31, 2010. The warrants were valsied the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Theuasptions used for the Bla&eholes option pricing model ar
term of 4.98 years, volatility of 162.45%, andskfree interest rate of 1.95%.

On September 24, 2010, we issued a warrant to psecB,933 of our common stock an exercise pricldf0O per share to an investor for services pravide the
private placement of convertible notes and warrantse 2010 financing transaction (see Note 6).

On September 27, 2010, we issued a warrant tchpsec15,000 of our common stock an exercise pfi§d.00 per share to an investor for services pi@difor th:
private placement of convertible notes and warrantse 2010 financing transaction (see Note 6).

We granted 440,000 stock purchase warrants to ofr hhsed employees or members of our Board dtiiegear ended December 31, 2010. The stock pss
warrants have an exercise price equal to $1.38 #®3%er shares, which was the market price omate of grant, October 15, 2010 and December 3).2These stoc
purchase warrants have a three to frear term. Warrants to purchase 320,000 sharesioé@mmon stock are vested on the date of grantaawarrant to purcha
120,000 shares of our common stock vests over Z¢hma@t the rate of 5,000 shares per month, beggrbecember 2010. The vested warrants granted ptogees had
fair value on the date of grant of $660,000. Apjmately $470,000 and $99,000 of the fair valuenidided in general and administrative expenseHeryears end:
December 31, 2010 and 2011, respectively, andetmaining $90,750 will be amortized to expense sitraightline monthly basis over the period ending Decendie
2012. The fair value of stock-based compensatitate@ to the employee warrants is calculated uiegBlackScholes option pricing model as of the grant déatthe
underlying warrant.

We sold 1,200,000 stock purchase warrants to owd®h based employees or members of our Boardgithim year ended December 31, 2010 for approxig
$49,000. The stock purchase warrants have anisggudce equal to $1.38 per shares, which wasrthkket price on the date of grant, October 15, 200iese stoc
purchase warrants have a thgear term and were vested on the date of the Fa&stock underlying the stock purchase warrargatgd to employees or members of
Board has not been registered for resale. The desterants granted to employees had a fair valuéherdate of grant of $1.7 million and is includedgeneral an
administrative expense for the year ended Dece®be?010. The fair value of stock-based compensatitated to the employee warrants is calculatéajube Black
Scholes option pricing model as of the grant datbe@underlying warrant.
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During September and October 2010, we enteredwadlifferent types of amendments with the holdgrthe convertible notes and stock purchase wagtigstied i
the Fall of 2009 and Spring of 2010 financing temni®ns. All of the holders of the convertible emtentered into an amendment pursuant to whiclldkedate of tt
convertible notes was extended until June 30, 2@1 ajority of the holders of the stock purchas@nants entered into an amendment pursuant to vithehexercise
their previously granted warrants at a discountezt@se price of $0.88 per share and was grantegblacement thregear warrant for each original warrant exercisek
total of 2,766,857 of the original warrants werereised at the discounted exercise price of $0e88&pare and a total of $2,384,554 was raised &y tmpany throug
these exercises of the original warrants. We gsutal of 2,766,857 shares of common stock epthcement warrants to the exercising warrant sldéth an exercis
price of $1.38 per share.

In the year ended December 31, 2011, the Compangds422,830 new fivgear common stock purchase warrants, with an eseeqmice of 3.13 per share (see !
6).

In March 2011, the Company entered into a warrgnéement with investors who participated in the @any’s 2009 and 2010 financing transactions and wh
been issued common stock purchase warrants witttisgeprices of $0.50 per share, $1.00 per shace$a.38 per share (the “2009 and 2010 Warran@&ijsuant to tr
warrant agreement, each warrant holder who exer@sene or all of its outstanding 2009 and 2010 Wfds at the applicable exercise price ($0.50 parest$1.00 pe
share, and/or $1.38 per share), received a nunibdawh 2011 Warrants equal to fifty percent (5086jhe number of 2009 and 2010 Warrants exercigeslibh warrar
holder. The warrant holders exercised an aggremfat83,426 outstanding 2009 and 2010 Warrantsafoaggregate investment of $515,000 and receiv@@l28 share
of common stock and 246,713 new fiyear common stock purchase warrants, with an esefmiice of $3.13 per share. The March 2011 Wesnanay be exercised
cash payment or through cashless exercise by thensier of warrant shares having a value equdld@xercise price of the portion of the warrantadpexercised.

On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd. (a related partyemised warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of constozk. During the year ended December 31, 201e
Company recorded an additional $50,000 as stoc&kdbesmpensation to compensate Davisa Ltd. by wagithie $1.00 exercise price, and issued 50,000 stadreu
common stock to Davisa Ltd. for services providedtie private placement of convertible notes aadants in the March 2011 financing transaction.

The fair value of stock-based awards is calculatgdg the BlackScholes option pricing model, even though this rhedes developed to estimate the fair valu
freely tradable, fully transferable options withagisting restrictions, which differ significantlyom our stock options. The Blaceholes model also requires subjec
assumptions, including future stock price volatiind expected time to exercise, which greatlycaftiee calculated values. The expected term arfdifiore rate of optior
granted is derived from historical data on emplogeercises and posesting employment termination behavior, as weleggected behavior on outstanding options
warrants. The rislree rate is based on the U.S. Treasury ratesfécteduring the corresponding period of grant. €kpected volatility is based on the historical tititg
of our stock price. These factors could changéénfuture, which would affect fair values of stamitions granted in such future periods, and coaldse volatility in th
total amount of the stock-based compensation expemorted in future periods.

Below is a summary of Outstanding Warrants to Purclase
Common Stock as of December 31, 2011:

Description Issue Date Exercise Price Shares Expiration Date
September 2007 Investor Warr: 9/26/200° $ 31.7¢ 23¢ 9/26/201.
August 2009 Employee Warrar 8/25/200¢ $ 0.5C 440,00( 8/25/201¢
January 2010 Investor Warre 1/28/201( $ 1.0C 40,00( 1/28/201:
2007 Debt Extension Warrar 9/22/201 $ 1.0C 16,00( 9/22/201!
September 2010 Repricing Warri 9/28/201( $ 1.3¢ 25,00( 9/28/201:
October 2010 Repricing Warrar 10/18/2011 $ 1.3¢ 2,434,83 10/18/201.
October 2010 Employee Warrai 10/15/2011 $ 1.3¢ 1,440,001 10/15/201.
December 2010 Employee Warra 12/3/201( $ 1.6: 200,00( 12/3/201!
January 2011 Employee Warr: 1/21/201: $ 2.0C 20,00( 1/21/201-
February 2011 Legal Advisor Warre 2/22/201: $ 2.5(C 80,00( 2/22/201t
March 2011 Investor Warrar 3/9/201: $ 3.1¢ 620,44: 3/9/201¢
March 2011 Investor Warrar 4/7/201: $ 3.1¢ 49,10( 4/7/201¢
May 2011 Consultant Warra 5/17/201: $ 4.05 20,00( 5/17/201-
September 2011 Employee Warrant 9/12/201: $ 3.9C 20,00( 9/12/201-
Total Warrants Outstanding 5,405,601
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11. Commitments and Contingencies
Indemnities and Guarantees

We have agreed to indemnify each of our executffieess and directors for certain events or ocawes arising as a result of the officer or diresnving in suc
capacity. The term of the indemnification perioddsthe officer's or director's lifetime. The mexim potential amount of future payments we coulddugiired to mak
under these indemnification agreements is unlimitddwever, we have directors’ and officeliability insurance policy that should enable useoover a portion of futu
amounts paid. As a result of our insurance polioyecage, we believe the estimated fair value o$géh@demnification agreements is minimal and hawdiabilities
recorded for these agreements as of December 31,&@ 2010, respectively.

We enter into indemnification provisions under agreements with other companies in the ordinaryseoof business, typically with business partneostractors
customers aneglandlords. Under these provisions we generally imoiéy and hold harmless the indemnified party fasdes suffered or incurred by the indemnified |
as a result of our activities or, in some casesa assult of the indemnified party's activities endhe agreement. These indemnification provisiofien includ:
indemnifications relating to representations mageus with regard to intellectual property rightdi€Be indemnification provisions generally survigentination of th
underlying agreement. The maximum potential amaofifiiture payments we could be required to makeeutigese indemnification provisions is unlimitede Wave nc
incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or setthims related to these indemnification agreemeke a result, we believe the estimated fair valuthese agreements
minimal. Accordingly, we have no liabilities recedifor these indemnification provisions as of Deben81, 2011 and 2010, respectively.

Operating Leases

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakrdtastigheter AB for 2,207 square feet of office cgpéocated at Linnegatan 89, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $6,000 per month including propeaty texcluding VAT). The annual payment for this @paquates to approximately $66,000 per year iimggugropert'
tax (excluding VAT). This lease has a notice pend8 months.

Neonode Technologies AB has a lease with Vasakrétastigheter AB for 2,723 square feet of officecgpbocated at Linnegatan 89D, Stockholm, Swede
approximately $8,000 per month including propeay texcluding VAT). The annual payment for this @paquates to approximately $93,000 per year iimggugropert'
tax (excluding VAT). This lease is valid thru Dedeen 31, 2014, with a 9 month notice period. Thetima will be extended for an additional 3 years i§ not terminate
according to the terms in the contract.

On March 18, 2011, we entered into a twelve moe#isé with CASanta Clara Office Center Limited Partnership fopraximately 1,718 square feet of office sg
located at 2700 Augustine Drive, Suite 100, SahéaeC California, USA for approximately $2,647 peonth. The lease expires on April 30, 2012.

On March 22, 2012, we entered into a 39 month leagde 2350 Mission Investors LLC for approximatedyl85 square feet of office space located at 23&®ibt

College Blvd, Suite 190, Santa Clara, CA 95054 UBHe initial lease payment is approximately $7,080month, increasing to approximately $7,700rpenth over th
term of the lease. The annual payment for thisespaiates to approximately $84,000 per year inctudioperty.
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A summary of future minimum payments under opecpliiase commitments as of December 31, 2011 isllasvs (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Total
2012 $ 267
2013 222
2014 181
2015 60
$§ 731

12. Segment Information

The Company has one reportable segment, whichnipigeed of the touchscreen technology licensingniass. All of our sales for the years ended Decer@be201.

and 2010 were to customers located in the U.Sgpfeuand Asia.

The following table presents net revenues by ggaducaegion for the years ended December 31, 26#12810 (dollars in thousands):

2011 2010
Amount Percentag Amount Percentag
Net revenues made in the U $ 4,792 7% $ == --%
Net revenues made outside of the L $ 1,27¢ 21% $ 44C 10C%
$ 6,067 10C% $ 44C 10C%
13. Income Taxes
Income (loss) before income taxes was distributsafycaphically as follows (in thousands):
Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Domestic $ (16,867) (29,590
Foreign (200 (1,999
Total $ (17,067 (31,58)
The provision for income taxes is as follows fog grear ended December 31:
2011 2010

Current

Federa $ - -

State 2 1

Foreign 76 44
Total current $ 78 45
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The effective income tax rate differs from the staty federal income tax rate for the following seas:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2011 2010
Amount at standard tax rat 34% 34%
Nor-deductible loss on revaluation of embedded coneerf@atures and extinguishment of convertible (29)% (24)%
Foreign losses at different rai 2% --
Stock compensatio -- B)%
7% 5%
Valuation allowance (7)% (5)%

Effective tax rate -- -

Significant components of the deferred tax balareesas follows (in thousands):

December 31

2011 2010

Deferred tax asset

Accruals $ 26 % 85
Stock compensatio 1,08( 897
Net operating losse 4.11¢ 2,45¢
Total deferred tax asse $ 522 $ 3,437
Valuation allowance (5,227) (3,437
Total net deferred tax assets $ - $ --

Valuation allowances are recorded to offset centigiferred tax assets due to managersanitertainty of realizing the benefits of thesens. Management applie
full valuation allowance for the accumulated lossédleonode Inc, and its subsidiary Neonode Tedgies AB, since it is not determinable using theote likely tha
not” criteria that there will be any future benefit afraleferred tax assets. This is mainly due to esioty of operating losses. Due to the reorgaromatthe Compar
believes that the US net operating losses andtsrediuld be subject to the provisions of Sectio? 38d therefore subject to strict limitations. T®@empany has n
completed a study of the limitations and therefuss not included these loss carryforwards or csedithe analysis of the deferred tax assets. Torapgany has feder.
state and foreign net operating losses of $2,824,$6,699,000 and $323,000, respectively. The &dess carryforward begins to expire in 2029, @sdifornia los:
carryforward begins to expire in 2029 and the fgmdbss carryforward indefinitely. On December 902, Neonode AB filed for liquidation under the Sligdh bankruptc
laws and effective with the filing we are no longesponsible for the liabilities and no longer hawy ownership interest in the assets of Neonodeiddduding any ta
net operating loss carryforwards.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provssioh accounting guidance which includes a two-sipproach to recognizing, deeognizing and measuri
uncertain tax positions accounted for in accordamitie accounting guidance. A reconciliation of tierecognized tax benefits for the year ended Deee®b, 2011 is ¢
follows:
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Balance at January 1, 201: $
Additions for tax positions of prior yea
Reductions for tax position of prior yez
Additions based on tax positions related to theentryea
Decrease- Settlement:
Reductions - Settlements

Balance at December 31, 201 $

It is the Companys policy to classify accrued interest and penaliepart of the accrued tax liability in the proamisfor income taxes. For the year ended Dece
31, 2011, we did not recognize any interest or piesaelated to unrecognized tax benefits.

Our continuing practice is to recognize interegd/an penalties related to income tax matters imine tax expense. As of December 31, 2011, we haatoe:
interest and penalties related to uncertain taxtersat

As of December 31, 2011, we had no uncertain ta&itipas that would be reduced as a result of aelashe applicable statute of limitations. We ad anticipate th
adjustments would result in a material change tdiioancial position.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal gdiction, California and Sweden. The 1997 throu@ii®tax years are open and may be subject to pal
examination in one or more jurisdictions. We arecwrently under any federal, state or foreigrome tax examinations.

14. Employee Benefit Plans
We do not have any defined contribution or otharspen plans for our employees.

15. Net Loss Per Share

Basic net loss per common share for tregsyended December 31, 2011 and 2010 was computdividing the net loss for the relevant periodthg weighte
average number of shares of common stock outstgnBituted loss per common share is computed biditig net loss by the weighted average number afesho
common stock and common stock equivalents outstgndi

Potential common stock equivalents of agpnately 5.4 million and 5.1 million outstandingpsk warrants, 55,000 and 100,000 shares issuglale conversion «
preferred stock and 0 and 0.2 million shares idseuabon conversion of notes are excluded from thetedi earnings per share calculation for the ywrated December &
2011 and 2010, respectively, due to their antitiiueffect.

(in thousands, except per share amounts) Year ended December &
2011 2010

BASIC AND DILUTED
Weighted average number

common shares outstanding 26,78¢ 18,29¢
Net loss $ (17,145 $ (31,626
Net loss per share basic and dilu $ (0.69 $ (1.79)
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17. Related Party Transactions

Mr. Per Bystedt, our Chairman and former Chief Exige Officer, invested a total of $75,000 of theZmillion raised in the Senior Convertible Sechiates 2011
financing transaction and was issued 7,500 Marchl 2Varrants to purchase our common stock at arcieeeprice of $3.13 per share. On December 14, 20t
Company converted the $75,000 note and $5,337cnfled interest, and issued Mr. Bystedt 33,208 shaireur common stock.

On March 31, 2011, Mr. Bystedt and lwo Jima SARIcoapany controlled by Mr. Bystedt, converted $238,of 2009 and 2010 convertible notes that weeeat
June 30, 2010 plus $5,086 of accrued interest 1g0&A shares of our common stock.

On June 30, 2011, the Company issued Mr. BysteRltshares of restricted common stock in lieu of @34 cash interest payment related to the conventibte h
purchased in March 2011 (see Note 6).

Employees and relatives of employees of the Compatier than Mr. Bystedt, invested a total of $208 of the $4.2 million raised in the March andrih@011
private placement financing transaction and recka@nvertible notes that were converted into 87 &dres of our common stock and we issued a tbtl,841 Marc
2011 Warrants to purchase our common stock at arcise price of $3.13 per share.

Davisa Ltd., a company controlled by Mr. Mats Dahliho is now a member of the board of directorthefCompany and of our wholly owned subsidiary Nets
Technologies AB, participated in the March 2011 namt exercise agreement and exercised 186,400 ntmmdth an exercise price of $0.50 per share &&,#00. Davis
Ltd. received 186,400 shares of our common stodkS@,200 March 2011 Warrants to purchase our constank at an exercise price of $3.13 per share.

On March 9, 2011, Davisa Ltd converted $215,72208f9 and 2010 convertible notes that were due na 30, 2011 plus $2,811 of accrued interest toO¥&7share
of our common stock.

On April 25, 2011, Davisa Ltd. exercised warrardspurchase 50,000 shares of common stock. The Gompaorded an additional $50,000 as stock
compensation to compensate Davisa Ltd. by waivireg$1.00 exercise price, and issued 50,000 shams @ommon stock to Davisa Ltd. for services uled for the
private placement of convertible notes and warramtse March 2011 financing transaction.

On March 16, 2012, John Reardon, a member of oardbof directors, exercised a warrant to purch&@®00 shares of common stock using the net ex
provision allowed in the warrant and received 1%98,3hares of our common stock.

18. Subsequent Events

On January 5, 2012, the Company signed a techndilognyse agreement with a global OEM to use the @omw’'s touchscreen technology in a series of GREele

On January 10, 2012, the U.S. Patent and Tradenfaffice issued to the Company patent number 8,0965fB7 sweep gesture user interfaces. The paterdre
activating a function in response to a touch-andegbperation on a touch sensitive surface. Thisrpacomplements NeonodeU.S. patents 7,880,732 and 8,068,10
small to midsize touchscreen devices. The pateetdthology is marketed and sold as Neonode’s t6f@EMs and ODMs.

On January 15, 2012, the Company signed a techndéiEnse agreement with a global top 5 printer OfeMise the Compang'touchscreen technology in a serie
printers. In conjunction with the signing of thexhnology license agreement, the OEM agreed totip@yCompany $50,000 in naeeurring engineering developm

fees. We are deferring the engineering developrigentevenue until such time as the engineering waskbeen completed. We expect to complete allcgsrunder th
contract in 2012.
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On January 19, 2012, we signed a technology licagegement with an OEM related to use of our tocreles technology for a universal color touch digfita Table
PCs. In conjunction with the signing of this teclugy license agreement, the OEM agreed to pay 8s086 in nornrecurring engineering development fees. We
deferring the engineering development fee revemii such time as the engineering work has beenpteted. We expect to complete all services underdbantract il
2012.

On January 30, 2012, the Board of Directors of Neleninc. adopted an amendment to the 2006 Plarctedse the number of shares of common stock azellopy
issuance under the 2006 Plan by an additional tilaam(2,000,000) shares.

On February 21, 2012, the Company announced thaselof its newly developed MuBliensing technology that provides a new way for rimeshto communica
with the human senses, and enables a far more agdn@nd profound user experience than tradititmadh.

On February 29, 2012, the Company filed a Certifiaef Correction with the Secretary of State ofdere effectively reducing the amount of its auttest share
from 848,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 2,000s8ares of Preferred Stock to 70,000,000 shdrésmmon Stock and 1,000,000 shares of PreferreckST his
correction reflects the new capital structure e @ompany following its 1-for-25 reverse split thacame effective at the close of business on M25¢2011.

On March 9, 2012, Series B Preferred stockholderhanged 19 shares of Series B Preferred stock 5®9 shares of our common stock.

On March 12, 2012, we signed a technology licerggeeament with IDT Technology Limited, a subsidiarfy Oregon Scientific for the use of our touchsc
technology in a tablet for children.

On March 16, 2012, John Reardon, a member of oardbof directors, exercised a warrant to purch&3®@0 shares of common stock using the net ex
provision allowed in the warrant and received 1%98,3hares of our common stock.

On March 22, 2012, we entered into a 39 month leagde 2350 Mission Investors LLC for approximatedyl85 square feet of office space located at 23&®ibt

College Blvd, Suite 190, Santa Clara, CA 95054 U$He initial monthly lease payment is approximat&f,000 per month, increasing to approximatelyy$@,per mont
over the term of the lease.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of and with the participatidrour management, including the Compan@hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Oficwe evaluated tl
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and prooesi (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(@)1&d15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 311 .2Base
upon that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officad&hief Financial Officer concluded that our distire controls and procedures were not effective.

During the audit of our consolidated financial staents for the year ended December 31, 2011, mamegedetermined that we had certain material wesde
relating to the segregation of duties within oucamting functions and our quarterly and annuarfiial close processes. A material weakness idfiei@®y, or
combination of deficiencies, in internal controleo\financial reporting, such that there is a reabtenpossibility that a material misstatement @ampanys annual ¢
interim financial statements will not be preventeddetected on a timely basis. Because these ralatggaknesses as to internal control over finanejbrting also be
upon our disclosure controls and procedures, ougf@&xecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officeleve unable to conclude that our disclosure coniots procedurt
were effective.

Despite the conclusion that disclosure controls pmtedures were not effective as of the end ofpéréod covered by this report, the Chief Executdfficer anc
Chief Financial Officer believe that the consolithfinancial statements and other information daethin this annual report present fairly, in athterial respects, o
business, financial condition and results of openat

Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Report of Management on Internal Control over Finarcial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢f) under th
Exchange Act. Our internal control system has lulesigned to provide reasonable, not absolute, asseito our management and Board of Directorsthieabbjectives «
our control system with respect to the integrigliability and fair presentation of published firzad statements are met. A control system, no mhties well designed al
operated, can provide only reasonable, not absastirance that the control systermbjectives will be met. Further, the design abatrol system must reflect the f
that there are resource constraints. Because adfiieeent limitations in all control systems, n@kation of controls can provide absolute assurdmaeall control issut
and instances of fraud, if any, within our comp&maye been detected. Under the supervision andthétiparticipation of our management, including Ghief Executiv:
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we assesseal dffectiveness of our internal control over finahceporting as of December 31, 2011. In making #ssessment,
used the criteria established in the frameworklmternal Control — Integrated Frameworissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatig@©S0O”) of the
Treadway Commission. Based on our assessment, wiisttonducted according to the COSO criteria, &eeftoncluded that our internal control over finaheporting
was not effective in achieving its objectives adDetcember 31, 2011 due to material weaknesse®xigted in our internal controls relating to thgregation of dutie
within our accounting functions and our quarteriyl @nnual financial close processes.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finanaieporting, such that there is a reasonable pitisgithat a materie

misstatement of the company’s annual or interimarfial statements will not be prevented or detected timely basis. Based on managenseassessment of our inter
control over financial reporting as of December 3111, the following material weaknesses existedf éisat date:
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1. We did not have adequate segregation of dutiesnithr accounting functions, which is a basic ingrcontrol. Due to our size and nature, segregatl
all conflicting duties may not always be possibhel anay not be economically feasible. However, ® éltent possible, the initiation of transacticths
custody of assets and the recording of transacsbnosild be performed by separate individuals. Mament evaluated the impact of our failure to |
adequate segregation of duties within our accogritinctions and concluded that this control deficierepresented a material weakn

2. We did not maintain adequate internal controlsropley adequate resources with sufficient techrésalertise in the area of accounting for income gax
ensure the completeness, accuracy, and reviewrafamsolidated income tax provision and disclosukésnagement evaluated the impact of our failu
have adequate controls in this area and concludgdttis control deficiency represented a matevedkness

3. We did not maintain effective controls over theaficial statement disclosures. Specifically, costveére not designed and in place to ensure thelbdise
relate to the December 2011 conversion of debt thedrelated reclassification of derivative lial@g to additional paidh capital were sufficier
Management evaluated the impact of our failure deehadequate controls in this area and concludedthiis control deficiency represented a mat
weakness

4. We did not maintain adequate design of our intecoatrols related to the preparation and reviewhefconsolidated statement of cash flows. Managt
evaluated the impact of our failure to have adegjuantrols in this area and concluded that thigrobdeficiency represented a material weakn

5. We did not maintain adequate internal controlsteelao the translation of our subsidiayoperations into U.S. Dollars in our financial solidatior
worksheets, specifically related to our accumulaititer comprehensive income (loss). Managementuated the impact of our failure to have adec
controls in this area and concluded that this abrteficiency represented a material weakn

This annual report does not include an attestagmort of the Compang’independent registered public accounting firmardipg internal controls over financ
reporting. Management's report was not subjectttestation by our Company’independent registered public accounting firmspant to the rule of the Securities
Exchange commission that permits us to provide ardpagement’s assessment in this annual report.

As we move towards complete integration and codatitin of business and financial operations of NeenTechnologies AB and Neonode Inc., we expetake
steps to both remedy the material weaknesses Hedabove and facilitate our managemeagsessment of internal control over financiabreqpg in accordance with t
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and Commission rules. Our pldrsteps include:

« adding personnel to our accounting department,udtargs, or other resources (including those withlig company reporting experience) to enhancepolicies
and procedures, including those related to comabeounting issue:

« exploring the suitability of further upgrades ta agcounting system;
« preparing written policies and procedures for aatiog and financial reporting to establish a forrpedcess to close our books and account for alkaetions

. ;c\‘/ln:nagement will perform an assessment of the éffaess of our internal control over financial regpm and implement appropriate internal controte
weaknesses determined, if any, documenting, andtésting, the effectiveness of those conti
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None
PART IlI
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND COR PORATE GOVERNANCE
Information required by this ltem is incorporateztdin by reference from the Company’s definitivd2®roxy Statement.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
Information required by this ltem is incorporateztdin by reference from the Company’s definitivd2®roxy Statement.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFIC IAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER M ATTERS
Information required by this ltem is incorporateztdin by reference from the Company’s definitivd2®roxy Statement.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRAN SACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
Information required by this Item is incorporatestdin by reference from the Company’s definitiva 2@roxy Statement.

ITEM 14.  PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICE S

Information required by this Item is incorporatestdin by reference from the Company’s definitiva 2@roxy Statement.
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ITEM 15.

PART IV

EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements of the registare listed in the index to the consolidatedricial statements and filed under ltem 8 of tbport.

Financial Statement Schedules

Not Applicable

Exhibit # Description

11 Underwriting Agreement with Cowen and Company, Lidated as of December 7, 201ih§orporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 of our €t Repor
on Form &K filed on December 8, 207).

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganizatiowdxs SBE, Inc. and Neonode Inc., dated JanuargQ®,(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.:
our Current Report on Form-K filed on January 22, 20C)

2.2 Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement and Plan of Meager Reorganization between SBE, Inc. and Neonocle dated May 18, 2007, effective May
2007 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of our €nt Report on Form-K filed on May 29, 200)

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of IncorporatibiNeonode Inc., dated April 17, 2009ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of owra@erly
Report on Form 1-Q filed on August 4, 200).

3.1.1 Certificate of Amendment, dated December 13, 20it@drporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1.1 of oumfal Report on Form 18-filed on March 31
2011) .

3.1.2 Certificate of Amendment, dated March 18, 20.ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of our @t Report on Form-K filed on March 28, 201).

3.13 Certificate of Correction, dated February 28, 20filed herewith).

3.2 Bylaws, as amended through December 5, 2(incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3.2 of our AalrReport on Form 1K filed on April 15, 200%)

4.1 Certificate of Designations, Preferences and Righthe Series A and Series B Preferred Stock d2&eBecember 2008i(corporated by reference
Exhibit 4.1 of our Current Report on Forr-K filed on December 31, 20()

4.2 Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieBi8ferred Stock dated 2 January 20@8c6rporated by reference as Exhibit 4.2 of our @edy Repor
on Form 1(-Q filed on October 31, 201)

4.3 Certificate of Increase of Designation of SerieBrigferred Stock dated 28 January 200®¢rporated by reference as Exhibit 4.3 of our @edy Repor
on Form 1(-Q filed on October 31, 201)

10.1 Employment Agreement with Thomas Eriksscincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to dumual Report on Form -K filed on April 15, 2009+

10.2 Employment Agreement with David W. Brunton, dataty 1, 2010 (filed herewith).

10.3 Convertible Note Agreement, dated January 18, Z0t6orporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our@at Report on Form & filed on February 2:
2010)

104 Convertible Promissory Noteincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our@at Report on Form-K filed on February 23, 201)

10.5 Form of Common Stock Purchase Warraincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our@at Report on Form-K filed on February 23, 201)
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10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

21

23.1

311

31.2

32

101.INS

101.SCH

101.CAL

101.DEF

101.LAB

101.PRE

Form of Amendment Convertible Note Agreementforporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our@at Report on Form 8-K filed on October 18,
2010)

Form of Amendment Convertible Note Agreementrporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of our@at Report on Form 8-K filed on October 18,
2010)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warraincorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of our@at Report on Form-K filed on October 18, 201)

Consulting Agreement with Per Bystedt, dated JanR8r 2011 {ncorporated by reference as Exhibit 10.16 of oonéAal Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 31, 2017) +

Form of Convertible Loan Agreement for the Marci 2&inancing (ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 of omnAal Report on Form 10-K filed
on March 31, 201)

Form of Convertible Promissory Note for the Mar€d 2 Financing {ncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of omnAal Report on Form 10-K filed
on March 31, 201)

Form of Common Stock Purchase Warrant for the Mafhl Financing incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of omnAal Report on Form 10-K
filed on March 31, 201).

Subsidiaries of the registra

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursitdo Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 2002

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuato Section 302 of the Sarba-Oxley Act Of 2002

Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 200z
XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurh

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent

+ Management contract or compensatory plan or geraent
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be signedsoneibalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NEONODE INC.
(Registrant,

Date: March 30, 201 By: /s/ David W. Brunton
David W. Bruntor
Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Financ
and Secretar

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each @& timdersigned officers and directors of the reggtconstitutes and appoints, jointly and sevey
Thomas Eriksson and David W. Brunton, and eachhefnt as lawful attorneys-ifzct and agents for the undersigned and for eadesh, each with full power
substitution and resubstitution, for and in the eamplace and stead of each of the undersignededdfiand directors, in any and all capacities, ¢m siny and &
amendments to this report, and to file the samth alli exhibits thereto and all other documentsannection therewith, with the Securities and ExgfgaCommissiol
granting unto said attorneys-fiaet and agents, and each of them, full power arhaaity to do and perform each and every act amjtnecessary or appropriate tc
done in and about the premises, as fully to adiritd and purposes as he might or could do in pehgeby ratifying and confirming all that eachsafd attorneys-itiact
or any of them, or any of their substitutes, mayfldly do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements for the Securitieh&ge Act of 1934, this report has been signedhéydllowing persons on behalf of the registrant anthe capaci
and dates indicated.

Name Title Date
/sl Thomas Eriksso Chief Executive Officer, March 30, 2012
Thomas Eriksso and Directol

(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ David W. Bruntor Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance March 30, 2012
David W. Bruntor and Secretar
(Principal Financial and Accounting Office

/s/ John Reardol Director March 30, 2012
John Reardo

/s/ Mats Dahlin Director March 30, 2012
Mats Dabhlin

/s/Lars Lindgvist Director March 30, 2012
Lars Lindgvist

/s/ Per Bysted Director and Chairman of the Board March 30, 2012
Per Bysted
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Exhibi t3.1.3

STATE OF DELAWARE

CERTIFICATE OF CORRECTION

Neonode Inc. a Corporation organized and existimdpuand by virtue of the General Corporation Ldthe State of Delawar
DOES HEREBY CERTIFY:
1. The name of the corporation is Neonade |

2. Pursuant to a 25-foreverse stock split, a Certificate of Amendmerthe Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorponaof Neonode Inc. was file
by the Secretary of State of Delaware on March 28,1, and that said Certificate of Amendment rezpiicorrection as permitted by Section 103 of thedB
Corporation Law of the State of Delaware.

3. The defect of said Certificate of Amendment is@kts: The number of issued and outstanding shafréiee Corporation was reduced by a ratio of
while the number of authorized shares of the Cafpom was mistakenly unadjusted in said CertificatéAmendment. It was never intended that Neonode have
848,000,000 authorized shares of Common Stock evith 32,778,000 issued and outstanding. There isaumd reason to leave such a large gap betweeamtbant ¢
authorized and issued shares. Rather, the intentés to adjust the amount of authorized shareswd@awd to properly reflect the new capital structafehe Corporatio
as of the effective date of the reverse split.

4, Article Sixth of the Certificate of Amément is hereby corrected to read as follows

In accordance with such Board of Directors and I8tolder authorizations and approvals, the Amendeti Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the gwation i
hereby amended by adding the following new pardgnapnediately after Section A of Article IV:

Effective at the close of business, Eastern Timehe date of this Certificate of Amendment ofAheended and Restated Certificate of Incorporat®filéd with

the Secretary of State of the State of Delawareh ¢éaenty five (25) outstanding shares of the Caapon’s Common Stock par value $0.001 per shaiié,be
exchanged and combined, automatically, withouthfertaction, into one (1) share of Common Stock, aadh twenty five (25) outstanding shares of the
Corporation’s Preferred Stock, par value $0.001 pkare, will be exchanged and combined, automdyicaiithout further action, into one (1) share afeferred
Stock. Accordingly, as of the effective date,rtbmber of authorized shares of the Corporationlisbe reduced to 70,000,000 shares of Common Stack
1,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF , said Corporation has caused this Certificatemfétion to be executed on the 28th day of FelrRat 2.

By: /s/ Thomas Eriksson
Name: Thomas Eriksson
Title: CEO

By: /s/ David Brunton
Name: David Brunton
Title: CFO



Exhibit 21.1

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction

Neonode Technologies Al Sweden



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement No’s. 333-179313, 333-1327138-83228, 333-114161, 333-150346 on Forr8 8Ac
Registration Statement No's. 333-177726, 333-1478233-152163, 333-153634 on FornB8f our report dated March 30, 2012, relatinghte tonsolidated financ
statements of Neonode Inc. and subsidiary appearitige Annual Report on Form 10-K of Neonode foc.the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010.

/sl KMJ Corbin & Company LLI
Costa Mesa, Californ
March 30, 201



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Thomas Eriksson, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKié-Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notado any untrue statement of a material fact oit tonstate a material fact necessary to make tétersents mad
in light of the circumstances under which suchestents were made, not misleading with respectet@éniod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemestd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects financia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseintéhis report;

4. The registrang’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitle establishing and maintaining disclosure cdetemd procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cowtvel financial reporting (as defined in Exchanget Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdwr caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our supervision, to ertba
material information relating to the registranglirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmoovus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring the
period in which this report is being prepared; and

b) Designed such internal control over finanegorting, or caused such internal control oveariial reporting to be designed under our supem;jsic
provide reasonable assurance regarding the retyabfl financial reporting and the preparation ofancial statements for external purposes in acourel witl
generally accepted accounting principles; and

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusions about the effectegnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on sweluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportitizat occurred during the registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caéan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegistrants interng
control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal have disclosed, based on our most recent ati@iuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the registran¢’
auditors and the audit committee of the registsabtiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbmiver financial reporting which are reasonabkely tc
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggrtbcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisattifole in the registrargt'internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: March 30, 2012

/sl Thomas Eriksso
Thomas Eriksso
Chief Executive Office




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, David W. Brunton certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on FornKié-Neonode Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notado any untrue statement of a material fact oit tonstate a material fact necessary to make tétersents mad
in light of the circumstances under which suchestents were made, not misleading with respectet@éniod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemestd other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material respects financia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseintéhis report;

4. The registrang’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitle establishing and maintaining disclosure cdetemd procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal cowtvel financial reporting (as defined in Exchanget Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and proesdwr caused such disclosure controls and proesdarbe designed under our supervision, to ertba
material information relating to the registranglirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmoovus by others within those entities, partidylaiuring the
period in which this report is being prepared; and

b) Designed such internal control over finanegorting, or caused such internal control oveariial reporting to be designed under our supem;jsic
provide reasonable assurance regarding the retyabfl financial reporting and the preparation ofancial statements for external purposes in acourel witl
generally accepted accounting principles; and

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtids report our conclusions about the effectegnof th
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the étitegeriod covered by this report based on sweluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestegnt's internal control over financial reportitizat occurred during the registranthost recent fiscal quar
(the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the caéan annual report) that has materially affecteds reasonably likely to materially affect, ttegistrants interng
control over financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dal have disclosed, based on our most recent ati@iuof internal control over financial reportirtg, the registran¢’
auditors and the audit committee of the registsabtiard of directors (or persons performing thewedent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbmiver financial reporting which are reasonabkely tc
adversely affect the registrant’s ability to reggrtbcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that inked management or other employees who have aisattifole in the registrargt'internal control over financ
reporting.

Date: March 30, 2012

/s/ David W. Bruntor

David W. Bruntor

Chief Financial Officer, Vice President, Finance an
Secretary




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANESOXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of Neonode [ilse “Company”) on Form 18-for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2011 led fivith the Securities a
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “rEpdte undersigned, Thomas Eriksson, the Chief Exeeufficer of the Company, and David W. Brunton,ieg
Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby fiegtj pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedupatsto § 906 of the Sarban@siey Act of 2002, that to o
knowledge:

1. The report fully complies with the requirementsSafction 13(a) or Section 15(d) of the Securitiesiaxge Act of 1934, as amended, except for the at
our financial statements by our independent regigtpublic accounting firm ; ar
2. The information contained in the report fairly pets, in all material respects, the financial cbadiand results of operation of the Compe

Dated: March 30, 2012

/sl Thomas Eriksso /s/ David W. Bruntor
Thomas Eriksso David W. Bruntor
Chief Executive Office Chief Financial Office




